RESILIENT HILLS & COASTS

Bushfire & Biodiversity Part A: Literature Review



"Political has dominated the fire world for several decades and is based on perceptions and beliefs" Dr Kevin Tolhurst AM

Prepared for Resilient Hills & Coasts by the Nature Conservation Society of South Australia

Acknowledgements and citation

First Nations people

Resilient Hills & Coasts partners acknowledge the traditional owners of the lands and waters of the Adelaide Hills, Fleurieu Peninsula and Kangaroo Island. We acknowledge the deep feelings of attachment and the relationship of Aboriginal people to country, and respect their ongoing custodianship.

Governance and contributions

This literature review is one of three milestones (Part A), delivered by the Resilient Hills & Coasts Bushfire and Biodiversity Project. The other deliverables from this project include:

- Part B: Spotlight Studies
- Part C: Discussion and Recommendations.

The project was governed by the Resilient Hills & Coasts Steering Committee, with additional direction provided by the project's Working and Advisory Groups (see table below). The project was managed and overseen by the Resilient Hills & Coasts Coordinator Olivia Davies, and later Jen St Jack. The table below lists the people that were involved.

Representation	Organisation or group	Person
Working Group	Adelaide Hills Council	Tonia Brown and Andrew Kirkley
	Alexandrina Council	Monika Rhodes
	Kangaroo Island Council	Anna Osman
	Mount Barker District Council	Greg Sarre
	District Council of Yankalilla	Corey Jackson and Amy Williams
	City of Victor Harbor	Lee Jeffery
	Southern and Hills Local Government Association	Graeme Martin
	Resilient Hills & Coasts	Olivia Davis and Jen St Jack
	Landscapes Hills and Fleurieu	Che Biggs and then Caroline Dorr
	Landscapes Kangaroo Island	Will Durack
	Regional Development Australia Adelaide Hills,	Sue Arlidge
	Fleurieu and Kangaroo Island	
Advisory Group	Adelaide Hills Council	Pia Charlton
	Department for Environment and Water	Jason Higham and Damon Ezis
	Resilient South	Stefan Caddy-Retalic
	South Australian Country Fire Service	Aidan Galpin
	South Australian State Emergency Service	Dave O'Shannessy
	Native Vegetation Council	Adam Schutz
Consultant and	Nature Conservation Society of South Australia	Bec Duffield, Kirsty Bevan, Nicole
project delivery		Fickling, Tessa Roberts, Elen Shute,
		Rhys Morgan

Content development and reviews

Resilient Hills & Coasts engaged the Nature Conservation Society of South Australia (NCS) as the consultant to develop and deliver the project milestones. The NCS undertook the research and content development, with advice from the Working and Advisory Groups. The NCS worked closely with Resilient Hills & Coasts Coordinators Olivia Davies and Jen St Jack. Draft versions of all documents were provided to the Steering Committee, the Working and Advisory Groups and other stakeholders, on account of their knowledge and expertise. The following people are further acknowledged.

- The NCS Project Lead Bec Duffield and the NCS Research Team Nicole Fickling, Tessa Roberts, Elen Shute and Rhys Morgan. The NCS CEO Kirsty Bevan is appreciated for her review and QA of all deliverables.
- Graeme Martin, on behalf of the Southern and Hills Local Government Association, for auspicing the project, and for providing overarching and high-level feedback.
- Monika Rhodes (Alexandrina Council), Greg Sarre (Mount Barker District Council), Lee Jeffery (City of Victor Harbor), Olivia Davies (Resilient Hills & Coasts), Amy Williams (District Council of Yankalilla) and Aidan Galpin (Country Fire Service) for their detailed and well considered editing and commentary on the project documents.
- Jason Higham and Damon Ezis (both Department for Environment and Water) for providing feedback on the project and the spotlight studies.

All members of the Working Group and Advisory Group who attended meetings, were involved in consultation, and provided input, are sincerely appreciated.

Funding

This project received grant funding from the Australian Government.

Citation

The Nature Conservation Society of South Australia, for Resilient Hills & Coasts (2023). *Bushfire and Biodiversity Part A: Literature Review*. South Australia.

Version

Version	Authors	Review and finalisation	QA and approval	Date
Working draft	Bec Duffield, Nicole Fickling, Tessa Roberts, Elen Shute Maps produced by Rhys Morgan	Bec Duffield	Kirsty Bevan	12 March 2023
Draft 1	Bec Duffield, Nicole Fickling, Tessa Roberts and Elen Shute	Bec Duffield	RHC Steering Committee Provided feedback	N/A
Final Draft	Bec Duffield, Nicole Fickling, Tess Roberts	Bec Duffield	Kirsty Bevan	13 June 2023
Final				15 June 2023

About Resilient Hills & Coasts

Resilient Hills & Coasts (RH&C) is a collaborative, cross-sector partnership in the Adelaide Hills, Fleurieu Peninsula and Kangaroo Island region, working to strengthen the resilience of communities, economies and natural and built environments to a changing climate.

Members of the partnership include six councils (Adelaide Hills, Alexandrina, Kangaroo Island, Mount Barker, Victor Harbor and Yankalilla); the Southern Hills Local Government Association; two Landscape Boards (Kangaroo island Landscape Board and Hills and Fleurieu Landscape Board); Regional Development Australia (RDA) Adelaide Hills, Fleurieu and Kangaroo Island; and the Government of South Australia (Resilient Hills and Coasts, 2020).

The RH&C region covers 8,752km² and includes a mixture of farming, conservation, and residential land uses, within rural, semi-rural, urban, and peri-urban settings.

Language statement

The term 'First Nations people' has been used when referring to Australia's first people (AIATSIS n.d.). The term 'Indigenous' has been used as it relates to fire management by First Nations people, as this was the description provided through foundational and supporting literature. It is recognised that this term may not reflect the diverse culture, language, family groups, beliefs, and practices.

Abbreviation	Name
RH&C	Resilient Hills & Coasts
RH&C SC	Resilient Hills & Coasts Steering Committee
BMCs	Bushfire Management Committees
LGA	Local Government Authority (Councils)
NCS	Nature Conservation Society of South Australia
SA	South Australia
MLR	Mount Lofty Ranges
DEW	Department for Environment and Water
CFS	Country Fire Service (South Australia)
SAFECOM	South Australian Fire Emergency and Community Services
NVC	Native Vegetation Council
NVB	Native Vegetation Branch
CRC	Cooperative research centre
EPBC	Environment Protection and Biodiversity Act

Abbreviations

Definitions

Term	Meaning
Resilient Hills &	The Adelaide Hills, Fleurieu Peninsula and Kangaroo Island region.
Coasts region	
Resilient Hills &	A collaborative, cross-sector partnership in the Adelaide Hills, Fleurieu Peninsula and
Coasts	Kangaroo Island region, working to strengthen the resilience of communities,
	economies and natural and built environments to a changing climate.
Spotlight study	The specific studies developed by the RH&C Bushfire and Biodiversity project
Wildfire	For the purpose of this document, a wildfire means the same event as a Bushfire. It is
	unplanned and ignited deliberately or through natural causes.
Bushfire	A bushfire is an unplanned fire event that can be ignited deliberately or through
	natural causes.

Contents

/	Acknov	wledgements and citation	ii					
1.	. Introduction							
2.	Stra	tegic context	2					
4	2.1	Bushfire management	3					
4	2.2	Governance and Legislation	4					
4	2.3	Bushfire safety responsibility	9					
4	2.4	Comparing state and territory bushfire and biodiversity legislation1	2					
3.	Und	lerstanding fires and bushfires1	.7					
	3.1	Fundamentals of fire ecology1	.7					
	3.2	Influencers of bushfire risk	1					
4.	First	t Nations fire management2	3					
2	4.1	Background2	3					
2	4.2	Traditional fire-management practices & biodiversity2	3					
2	1.3	Cultural burns, Indigenous land management & fuel hazard reduction2	4					
2	1.4	Indigenous fire and land-management in the RH&C region2	5					
5.	Fire	and Biodiversity	6					
[5.1	Plants and fire2	6					
[5.2	Fungal and bacterial community responses to fire2	7					
[5.3	Fauna and fire2	8					
ſ	5.4	Aquatic ecosystems and fire	2					
ſ	5.5	Human fire management and effects on biodiversity3	2					
[5.6	Adaptation of future fire management regimes for biodiversity	3					
6.	Clim	nate change impacts on bushfires and biodiversity3	5					
(5.1	Climate change impacts in the RH&C region	5					
(5.2	How will climate change impact biodiversity in the RH&C region?4	.0					
(5.3	Strategies for biodiversity resilience in context of climate change4	.4					
7.	Corr	nmunity resilience to future bushfires and biodiversity loss4	6					
8.	Busl	hfire preparation and biodiversity conservation -learnings from select 2019-2020 bushfir	~e					
rev	iews.		1					
9.	Con	clusion5	5					
F	Refere	nces5	7					

Figures

Figure 1: The key stages of bushfire management, Diagram was produced by Nature Conservation Society of SA and based on a schematic provided by Damon Ezis (DEW) during stakeholder engagement.
Figure 2: The governance and functions of the State Bushfire Committee: the diagram was copied from the SA State Bushfire Management Plan 2021 2025 (Government of South Australia, 2021)
Figure 2. The authorising and regulatory legislation in South Australia that relates to hushfires and
Figure 5. The authorising and regulatory registration in South Australia that relates to business and
Coverse mont of Covets Avetable 2021)
(Government of South Australia, 2021)
native vegetation management
Figure 5: Overview of the approvals required for bushfire hazard reduction activities in South Australia.
Source: (Government of South Australia, 2021)9
Figure 6: The three key elements of the fire triangle19
Figure 7: Categories of fuel along the vertical plane from the Bushfire Centre of Excellence and the
Department of Fire and Emergency Services WA (2021). Note that the canopy fuel is not labelled
however it is the uppermost layer in the diagram
Figure 8: The key determinates of bushfire risk and the four fire management stages (Source: The Royal
Commission into National Natural Disaster Arrangements Report 2020.
Figure 9: The fire frequency (includes bushfires and prescribed fires) in Kangaroo Island council region.
Figure 10: The fire history (includes bushfires and prescribed fires) in Kangaroo Island council region.
Figure 11: The fire frequency (includes bushfires and prescribed fires) in Yankalilla. Victor Harbour
Alexandrina Adelaide Hills and Mount Barker council regions
Figure 12: The fire history (includes hushfires and prescribed fires) in Vankalilla. Victor Harbour
Alexandrina Adelaide Hills and Mount Barker council regions
Figure 13: Predicted impacts of climate change and the effects on species as developed by Vie et al
(2000) for the International Union for Conservation of Nature

Tables

Table 1: Activities that are unlikely to require approval under EPBC Act	5
Table 2: Indicators to assess collaborative shared responsibility (Source Thomson, Perry and N	Miller
2008)	12
Table 3: Comparing select state and territory legislation, key agency, strategy and planning,	asset
protection and firebreak rules, fuel assessment methodology and other initiatives or offerings of	note.
The asterisk might be of interest to RH&C in the future	14
Table 4: South Australian plants affected by the 2019–2020 bushfires (modified from Gallagher ϵ	et al.,
2023)	27
Table 5: South Australian birds with fire-management guidelines	29
Table 6: South Australian mammals with fire-management guidelines	31

Attachments

Attachment 1: Fire frequency and fire history in the Resilient Hills & Coast region

1. Introduction

This literature review investigates and summarises information on bushfire and biodiversity legislation and governance, fire ecology, First Nations fire management, the relationship between fires and biodiversity, community resilience, climate change and the impact that this will have on biodiversity resilience. An additional section (section 8) is provided that summarises recent research findings following the 2019-2020 bushfires in the region.

Climate change as a driver of extreme conditions and biodiversity loss

Climate change is increasingly being recognised as one of the biggest crises to face the world (United Nations n.d), with no country unaffected by the consequences of global warming, increased carbon dioxide, and rising sea levels (United Nation n.d, IPCC 2021). The realism of climate change is largely uncontested by scientists, with overwhelming support that it is predominately accelerated and driven by anthropogenic drivers (Gill, 2012; Nunez et al., 2019; van Oldenborgh et al., 2021; A. P. Williams et al., 2019). In acknowledgement that climate change is a significant event, with catastrophic consequences that are predicted to intensify and become more frequent, widespread, and disastrous, 40 countries (comprising 2319 jurisdictions) have declared a climate emergency (United Nations n.d, IPCC 2021).

As a result of climate change, Australia is getting hotter and drier (Bureau of Meterology, n.d.; CSIRO, 2020a; Gill, 2012; Trewin et al., 2021) as demonstrated by the millennium drought and the unpredictable weather events that have resulted in devastating storms, floods, and fires (Bureau of Meterology & CSIRO, 2022; T. Penman et al., 2023). The bushfire risk is further amplified by conversion of landscapes (T. Penman et al., 2023); expanding peri-urban settlements (the urban-rural interface) and an increased population (Bardsley et al., 2015, 2018; Gill, 2012); higher fuel loads from weed species (Setterfield et al., 2013; Walker & Morgan, 2022); and suppression of Indigenous fire management in some parts of the country (Bardsley et al., 2019; T. Penman et al., 2023; Williamson & Weir, 2021).

In addition to the climate change emergency, there is recognition of an emerging crises on the natural world; specifically biodiversity, due to population growth and development, land use, resource exploitation, habitat clearance and fragmentation, pollution, invasive species and disease and dieback (Australian Government, 2022; Gill, 2012; Greenfield, 2022; H. Murphy & van Leeuwen, 2021). The International Union for Conservation of Nature forecasts that currently 28 percent of species are threatened with extinction worldwide (IUCN n.d), and Australia, with one of the highest extinction rates in the world (Australian Government, 2022), has 1,790 species that are currently identified as threatened with extinction (Ecological Society of South Australia 2019). Human induced climate change is also intensifying and exacerbating the stress on Australia's biodiversity assets, specifically through bushfires and extreme weather events. While climate change can impact on nature and biodiversity's state and condition, biodiversity is also viewed as a "natural solution" that can mitigate against climate change by providing ecosystem services and carbon sequestration and storage (Greenfield, 2022; Searle & Chen, 2018; United Nations Framework on Climate Change, n.d.).

From the 2019-2020 Black Summer bushfires and into the future

After a severe drought and increasing temperature, Australia was impacted by a bushfire season during the summer of 2019-2020 that was unprecedented in geographic scale, intensity, and duration. South Australia suffered tremendous loss from these bushfires (hereafter called 2019-2020 bushfires) with three human deaths, 196 homes destroyed, 68,000 livestock perished and 280,000 hectares burnt

(Government of South Australia, 2020a). The effect on biodiversity was concerning as forty threatened (at the state level) plant and animal species had half of their known habitat destroyed (Government of South Australia, 2020b).

Australia is prone to natural hazards such as bushfires (Commonwealth of Australia, 2020; CSIRO, 2020b) with some vegetation communities and biota having adapted, or able to recover from burns, depending on the scale, intensity and frequency of the fire (Gallagher et al., 2023; Rumpff et al., 2023). However, there are also ecological communities and biodiversity assets that are fire sensitive and less able to survive and recover post-burn — either due to the fire itself (Gallagher et al., 2023). Likewise, the ecological benefits of a prescribed and controlled burn is also variable as some species will respond favourably (D. A. Taylor, 2019; Trezise et al., 2022), while others demonstrate a decline (Pastro et al., 2011; Prowse et al., 2017).

As the intensity and frequency of bushfires is likely to increase with the effects of climate change (The Royal Commission into National Natural Disaster Arrangements, 2020b) and the ignition, spread and intentisy of fires is often difficult to manage (as it is influenced by fuel, topography and weather), there is a need for strategies that focus on bushfire mitigation and preparedness. Equally as important, is identifying risks to biodiveristy (including bushfire management) to prevent further loss and extinctions. Some of the approaches for integrating biodiversity and bushfire prevention (via reduced fuel load) include prescribed burning and fire management by Indigenous fire practitioners (Firesticks Alliance, n.d.; Hoffman et al., 2021; Steffensen, 2020). It has also been argued that prescribed burning does not offer value for biodiversity at a landscape scale (Pastro et al., 2011; T. D. Penman et al., 2006; Prowse et al., 2017), or it does not demonstrably influence the area of a bushfire (Campbell et al., 2022).

Impacts and resilience within South Australian regional communities

The local government (council) areas of Kangaroo Island, Adelaide Hills, Mount Barker, Alexandrina, Yankalilla, and Victor Harbour are part of a cross-agency climate partnership agreement that aims to "strengthen the climate resilience of communities, economies and natural and built environments" (Resilient Hills & Coast 2022). There are significant and unique biodiversity assets within the region that represents the six councils. As an example, the Adelaide Mount Lofty Ranges (MLR) is a renowned biodiversity hotspot, currently nominated for World Heritage listing, that includes the Resilient Hills & Coasts council regions of Adelaide Hills, Alexandrina, Mount Barker, and Yankalilla (Marshall & Am, 2019). However, biodiversity and fire management in the MLR, for single or multiple outcomes, is challenging as the region is modified and highly fragmented, populated by a range of demographic groups with different values and needs, and has a growing peri-urban (urban to rural interface) footprint. Also, the 2019-2020 bushfires included the local government (council) areas of Kangaroo Island, Adelaide Hills, and Mount Barker, with devastating effects on each of these communities. Gill et al. (2014), expressed this regions complexity "the AMLR exhibits in microcosm many of the challenges faced by conservation managers in the wider fire-prone world — increasing human populations, changing atmospheric composition, changing climate, changing fire regimes, changing land uses and increasing land use intensity-resulting in the loss of biodiversity and increasing numbers of naturalised species".

2. Strategic context

2.1 Bushfire management

For the purpose of this literature review, bushfire management includes the four key phases of the Australian Governments 'Australian Emergency Management Arrangements 2019' (Australian Institute for Disaster Resilience, 2019) 'Prevention, Preparedness, Response and Recovery'. Strategic bushfire management aims to bring together a range of stakeholders, with vested interest and influence, to establish agreed objectives for managing bushfires within the landscape (Victorian Government Safer Together, n.d) and for "improved coordination and collaboration across government, and non-government organisations and with the community, and improving understanding of the shared responsibility we all have to manage bushfire risk in South Australia" (Government of South Australia, 2021).

The four key phases of bushfire management are demonstrated as Figure 1, with the inclusion of an additional element, 'Monitoring, Evaluation, Reporting and Identifying Improvements'. Prevention focuses on strategies for reducing or eliminating the impact of a bushfire hazard on communities and economies, and it is usually directed by key legislation and policies. It is defined by the Australian Institute for Disaster Resilience as "All activities concerned with minimising the occurrence of incidents, particularly those of human origin. Regulatory and physical measures to ensure that emergencies are prevented, or their effects mitigated. Measures to eliminate or reduce the incidence or severity of emergencies". It is noted by the Country Fire Service (CFS) that prevention of bushfires is not always possible, however "mitigation activities can be undertaken to reduce the likelihood, vulnerability, and consequences" (Government of South Australia, 2021). Bushfire preparedness involves a range of stakeholders to implement strategic actions before a bushfire occurs, to reduce the impact, extent, and severity of the fire. This includes ensuring that if a bushfire occurs, there are adequate arrangements and firefighting services deployed during the event (Government of South Australia, 2021). This includes a range of different preparations such as emotional and psychological, systems and processes, and material and physical. Response is the immediate actions that are needed in reaction to a bushfire event, to protect life, property and the environment (Australian Institute for Disaster Resilience, 2019). In terms of responding to a bushfire, CFS is the hazard leader and control response agency for bushfires in the RH&C Bushfire Management Areas of Kangaroo Island, Fleurieu and Adelaide and Mount Lofty Ranges. The CFS firefighting is supported by the "South Australian Metropolitan Fire Service (MFS), Department for Environment and Water (DEW), Private Farm Fire Units, South Australian Police, local government and a wide range of government and non-government agencies" (Government of South Australia, 2021). The bushfire recovery phase is the planned work that is required to rebuild and reestablish infrastructure, homes, livestock and the environment, after a bushfire event. It also involves identifying health risks to people, both physical and emotional.

As Figure 1 illustrates, many of these stages have feedback loops into other stages. The learnings from response and recovery can be fed back into the preparedness and prevention to enable future improvements. An overarching 'monitoring, evaluation, reporting and identifying improvements' stage occurs after the event, and considers all four components. Examples of this include independent reviews and parliamentary inquiries or agency specific evaluations.



Figure 1: The key stages of bushfire management, Diagram was produced by Nature Conservation Society of SA and based on a schematic provided by Damon Ezis (DEW) during stakeholder engagement.

This RH&C project is focussed on bushfire preparedness, and the types of activities that households and community can undertake to be better prepared, while still ensuring the protection and improvement of biodiversity assets.

2.2 Governance and Legislation

National level

Emergency management legislation at the federal level includes the *Defence Act 1903* and the National Emergency Declaration Act 2020. This legislation is supported by the Australian Government's <u>Australian Disaster Preparedness Framework</u>, <u>National Disaster Risk Reduction Framework</u> and <u>First National Action Plan</u>.

At a national level, the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999* (EPBC Act) is the key legislation for protecting Australia's threatened species – see <u>here</u>. This is Australia's national environment law to regulate activities that are likely to have a significant impact on national protected matters (threatened species and ecological communities).

Although the South Australian government has the primary responsibility for its environmental assets and implementation of fire management (suppression and prevention), some activities may require approval under the EPBC Act if the proposed action will either have a significant impact on matters of national environmental significance (MNES) or the action is not exempt under EPBC Act. On advice from the Threatened Species Scientific Committee in 2022, inappropriate fire regimes have been identified as a threating process under this national legislation to the survival of over 800 species and 65 threatened ecological communities (also see section 5).

Some activities that are listed as not requiring approval include:

- Those that have been approved or authorised under South Australian legislation before the commencement of the EPBC Act
- Land uses that occurred before the commencement of the EPBC Act, as long as this activity has not been enlarged, expanded or intensive after July 2000. This includes maintaining access and fire breaks, roadside weed control, control burns, and maintaining infrastructure

- Those that are in accordance with the endorsed strategic assessment policy, plan or program under national environment law
- Those that are declared to not need approval in an approved conservation agreement, under environmental law.

An ambiguous exemption under EPBC Act is the permission to undertake an activity that is "otherwise declared by the federal environment minister". It is not clear what types of activities they could be, or what justification and evidence is required, for the Minister to make such a declaration.

The Australian government also provides a list of fire prevention activities that are *unlikely* to require approval under EPBC Act. These have been listed in Table 1 and include "bushfire management activities carried out by state and territory governments, local councils, other authorities such as fire and emergency services, and individuals". It is unclear what other agencies, such as the South Australian Power Network, are considered as "other authorities".

Table 1: Activities that are unlikely to require approval under EPBC Act

Unlikely to require approval under EPBC Act	Notes
Routine fuel reduction burns, including roadside burns,	To be guided by South Australian legislation – Native
done in accordance with state or territory law	Vegetation Act 1991 and Fire and Emergency Services Act
requirements.	2005.
Routine maintenance of fence lines, access roads or	Potential risk of overambitious clearing to maintain areas.
tracks.	
Routine maintenance of existing fire breaks, fire	Potential risk of overambitious clearing to maintain areas.
infrastructure, services and utilities.	
Replacing sheds or other infrastructure at the same	Potential risk of impacting on biodiversity value via the asset
site.	protection rules.
Localised weed control by hand or machinery.	None noted.
Minor sediment and erosion preventative works and	Potential risk of impacting on biodiversity value.
repairs.	
Clearing of a defendable space around a home or rural	Potential conflict if the area requiring clearance supports
asset in accordance with state/territory and local	threatened species or threatened habitat and the science
government requirements.	about the "defendable" is contested.

South Australian level

The South Australian government has the primary responsibility for protection of life, property and the environment, however, support can be provided through the Australian Government's National Emergency Management Agency (NEMA). The *Fire and Emergency Services Act 2005* and the *Emergency Management Act 2004* are South Australia's primary legislation for bushfire prevention, preparation, response and recovery. Under the *Fire and Emergency Service Act 2005*, bushfire management is coordinated through the State Bushfire Coordination Committee (SBCC) and nine Bushfire Management Committees that represent specific areas – see Figure 2). Within the RH&C footprint, there are three Bushfire Management areas – <u>Kangaroo Island</u>, <u>Adelaide and Mount Lofty Ranges</u> and the <u>Fleurieu</u>. It is noted that the function of the SBCC is supporting coordination and not implementation of the actions specified within bushfire plans (notably the States Bushfire Management Plan and Bushfire Management Area Plans). The South Australian Management Framework clearly identifies CFS as the hazard leader and control agency for rural fire within South Australia (Government of South Australia, 2021). The CFS also provides executive support to the State Bushfire Coordination Committee and the Bushfire Management Committees.



Figure 2: The governance and functions of the State Bushfire Committee: the diagram was copied from the SA State Bushfire Management Plan 2021-2025 (Government of South Australia, 2021).

The South Australian Fire and Emergency Services Commission (SAFECOM) was established under South Australia's *Fire and Emergency Services Act 2005* and is under the control of the Minster for Emergency Services and its Commissioner, to which it directly reports. SAFECOM provides governance, strategy and policy direction and leadership to emergency agencies including MFS, CFS and SES but it does not have a responsibility to provide operational and procedural direction relevant to emergency responses, including bushfires.

South Australian nature and environmental assets are protected under state legislation that includes *National Parks and Wildlife Act 1972, Wilderness Protection Act 1992, Native Vegetation Act 1991* and *Landscape South Australia Act 2019* – see Figure 3 and Figure 4. The Department for Environment and Water has the responsibility for governing the requirements under this legislation. The NCS also notes the South Australian Labor government's election commitment (2022) for a new Biodiversity Act that will presumably strengthen the protection of biodiversity across the state (South Australian Labour Party 2022). The new Act will "integrate the goals of the *Native Vegetation Act 1991*, the National Parks and Wildlife Act and the Landscapes SA Act and put the protection of biodiversity for the long-term at the centre of these laws" (South Australian Labor Party, 2022).



Figure 3: The authorising and regulatory legislation in South Australia that relates to bushfires and biodiversity. Source: the diagram was copied from the SA State Bushfire Management Plan 2021-2025 (Government of South Australia, 2021).

Local government

The role of local government has changed since the *Fire and Emergency Services Act 2005* was amended in 2009 as they no longer have "responsibility for managing Bushfire Prevention Committees" (Government of South Australia, 2020a). However, the survey results from Moskwa et al. (2016) concluded that local government was regarded as the most important governance level for the reduction of bushfire risk and the conservation of local biodiversity.

Under the South Australian Fire and Emergency Act, local councils (local government that represents a specific geographic area) have an obligation to reduce fire risk, including:

- Maintain tracks for emergency services access and egress. This can require council regularly checking in with the CFS to ensure that they are complying with the required maintenance.
- Participation in local Bushfire Coordination Committee, the Emergency Management Committee, and the Fire Prevention Strategic Alliance.
- Representation on the State Bushfire Management Committee.

Local councils also have responsibility for appointing at least one Fire Prevention Officer (Part 4A Division 2 of the *Fire and Emergency Services Act 2005*) to support fuel load reduction. The responsibilities of the Fire Prevention Officer (105C of the *Fire and Emergency Services Act 2005*) includes (Government of South Australia, 2021):

- Assessing the extent of bushfire hazards within their area
- Providing advice and information on bushfire management
- Preparing and reviewing the Bushfire Management Area Plan/s

• Providing advice to landowners about bushfire management (prevention and preparation).

The Local Government Association of South Australia (LGA), an agency that advocates on behalf of local government, outlined their bushfire prevention and preparation responsibilities in their submission to the 'Draft State Bushfire Management Plan 2012-2025'. Some key points are listed below:

- The LGA has policies in place that support local government to meet its obligation under section 7 (d) of the *Local Government Act 1999* to: "take measures to protect their area from natural and other hazards and to mitigate the effects of such hazards."
- The LGA Policy Manual 4.1.6 'Bushfire Management' states: "Local government supports a balance between the protection of native vegetation and the necessity to develop bushfire prevention strategies that may include back-burning or cold burns. Councils shall ensure that clear evidence is developed to support back-burning/cold burning proposals and ensure vegetation is only disturbed when vital to the protection of communities."
- Councils also have responsibilities for fire prevention through their fire prevention officers, managing fuel load and communicating with their communities to be prepared for bushfire.

The LGA has produced an 'Emergency Management Framework' (LGA Board, 2019) with a vision of "Communities are disaster resilient because emergency risks are understood across the community, mitigated wherever possible, and there are effective systems to ensure community safety and wellbeing when emergencies occur". This framework provides additional guidance to local government in relation to bushfire management.



Figure 4: Overview of legislation, governance and key documents related to fire management and native vegetation management.

2.3 Bushfire safety responsibility

Bushfire safety responsibility (asset protection, fire breaks and fire-tracks)

South Australia's Bushfire Management Plan (2022) was prepared and endorsed by the SA State Bushfire Committee under the requirements of the *Fire and Emergency Services Act 2005*. Under the *Fire and Emergency Services Act 2005* both individuals and community have "a legislative responsibility and duty of care to take action that will prevent bushfires" (Government of South Australia, 2021). For landowners, this can include asset protection (A Zones – activities to reduce risk of bushfire impact on buildings and assets), bushfire buffer zones (B Zones – managing fuels in areas additional to the A Zone), fire breaks and access tracks and prescribed burning to reduce fuel hazards. The exemptions and approvals required are outlined by Native Vegetation Council and the State Bushfire Management Plan South Australia (2022) – see Figure 5: Overview of the approvals required for bushfire hazard reduction activities in South Australia. Source: (Government of South Australia, 2021)..



Figure 5: Overview of the approvals required for bushfire hazard reduction activities in South Australia. Source: (Government of South Australia, 2021).

The management of crown land to prevent bushfires is covered in section 105G of the *Fire and Emergency Services Act 2005*. The SA Power Networks (SAPN) is responsible for maintaining clearance distances between vegetation and power lines on all public supply lines, except if it is the responsibility of council (South Australian Government n.d. <u>weblink</u>).

Under section 5 of the *Electricity Act 1996*, if SAPN believe that vegetation could potentially damage the powerline, or provide a risk of fire, the vegetation can be cleared in accordance with the <u>Electricity</u> (Principles of Vegetation Clearance) Regulations 2021. An electricity entity with a duty to keep vegetation clear of powerlines may clear vegetation that is within the bushfire risk area if the entity is satisfied that the vegetation is likely to fall onto a public powerline or private powerline under the entity's control, so as to damage the powerline, or give rise to a risk of fire, electric shock, or interruption of electricity supply, despite the entity not having a duty to carry out such work (but the entity incurs no liability for failure to clear such vegetation). Where SAPN is not required to maintain vegetation clearance on private property, to protect a powerline, they can offer to undertake the work at the expense of the landowner.

Within the RH&C region, there is significant biodiversity value along roadsides (see spotlight study #1), and the required clearance under the Electricity Regulations could impact these biodiversity assets at a local and landscape scale. Local Government, NPWSA, SA Water, and Forestry SA are also responsible for maintaining vegetation on their land, both for bushfire prevention and biodiversity protection.

Concept and application of shared responsibility

Within the South Australian context, landowners are legally responsible for mitigating against fire risk under the *Fire and Emergency Services Act 2005* Section 105F. It is unclear from the literature review, if this responsibility effectively reduces communities' exposure to bushfire risk, and to a lesser extent, biodiversity loss. In terms of the legal responsibility of a fire, the liability for starting a fire sits with the person or agency that ignited the fire (Eburn & Cary, 2017). Eburn and Cary (2017) also discussed the hypothesis of 'whoever owns the fuel, owns the fire', and suggested that this is a moral position, but from a legal perspective, whoever "owns the fuel 'might' also own the fire".

Disaster preparation and community resilience approaches is increasingly underpinned by the concept of "shared responsibility" — that being, responsibility is equitably distributed amongst individuals, households, communities, businesses, and not-for-profit organisations (Dovers 2022; Cooper at al 2020). The importance and effectiveness of shared responsibility during the 2019-2020 bushfires recovery stage, at the local, regional, state, and national levels, has been noted (de Bie et al., 2023).

The principle of a shared responsibility for "bushfire prevention" is embedded in the *Fire and Emergency Services Act 2005* (Government of South Australia, 2021) that requires private landowners (section 105F), local (section 105G), state (section 105H) and Australian government (section 105I) landowners to:

- Prevent or inhibit the outbreak of fire on the land
- Prevent or inhibit the spread of fire through the land
- Protect property on the land from fire
- Minimise the threat to human life from a fire on the land.

The shared responsibility messaging is strongly embedded in various foundational and strategic documents in South Australia, at the state and local level (some examples are the 'State Bushfire Management Plan 2021', the 'Local Government Emergency Management Framework 2019' and 'Managing Native Vegetation: How to reduce the impact of bushfire and the steps you need to take August 2020'). A review of the use of "shared responsibility" for biodiversity conservation suggests that

the term is not being used consistently across agencies and councils, nor is it being used consistently across the literature. Although the general concept of shared responsibility is either embedded or implicit in communication material, the terms vary.

Though the concept of shared responsibility is widely used for bushfire management, it is less clear how to effectively convey this, and how it can be best applied at the preparation scale to address bushfire risk (McDonald & McCormack, 2022). A report by McLennan and Handmer (2014) discussed the principles of "shared responsibility" and how stakeholders can be supported to make better decisions. There is an additional concern about the ability of shared responsibility to be applied equitably and across all areas and regions. There is an assumption that all individuals and households have the ability to access and understand information and/or the capacity to implement actions required to protect themselves and the wider community (McDonald & McCormack, 2022).

Research conducted by Cooper et al. (2020) indicates that shared responsibility can be influenced by community narration, and that these narratives are determined by local features and community. The selection of information and trust in that information is likely to be greater if it is locally sourced as there could be a mistrust of information that is centralised. The NSW Hotspots Program (see spotlight study #12) has addressed this need and acknowledged that tailored communication has contributed to its success.

The State Emergency Service of Tasmania (SES Tasmania, n.d.) have online resources to train people that are involved in emergency management. The resources emphasise the importance of community engagement in fostering a sense of shared responsibility in the community, and therefore improving community resilience. The training material refers to Cottrell's (2009) 'Know your patch' to 'grow your patch' which provides a method of defining the local community as a starting point, that will then result in shared responsibility in the community. This method was (in 2011) being used by multiple state emergency services organisations to inform personnel and/or volunteer training programs. The method describes steps that emergency management personnel need to follow to understand their local community.

In a study comparing international disaster mitigation policy makers understanding of shared responsibility, it was acknowledged that the government agency shared responsibility role was central and the more powerful part of the shared responsibility collaboration (McLellan, Reid, Beilin 2019). There is an opportunity to evaluate the performance of a collaborative shared responsibility relationship using a five-dimensional framework developed by Thomson et.al (2008) — Table 2.

Dimension	Indicator				
1. Joint decision- making	Agency and community organisation take each other's opinions seriously when decisions are made about collaboration activities.				
	Agency and community organisation brainstorm together to develop solutions to mission-relevant problems facing the collaboration.				
2. Administration	Agency and community organisation understand each other's roles and responsibilities in the collaboration.				
	Agency and community organisation meetings accomplish what is necessary for the collaboration to function well.				
	Agency and community organisation agree about the goals of the collaboration.				
	Agency and community organisation tasks are well coordinated.				
3. Autonomy	The collaboration does not hinder either party from fulfilling its own mission.				
	Neither party's independence is affected by having to work with the other on activities related to the collaboration.				
	Neither party feels conflicted about trying to meet their own, as well as the collaboration, expectations.				
4. Mutuality	Both parties have combined and used each other's resources so both benefit from the collaboration.				
	Both parties share information that will strengthen their operations and programs.				
	Both parties feel that what they bring to the collaboration is appreciated and respected by the other.				
	Both parties believe that their own goals are achieved better working with the other rather than going it alone.				
	Both parties work through differences to achieve win-win solutions.				
5. Trust	The representatives of both parties believe that the representatives of the other party are trustworthy.				
	Each party can count on the other to meet its obligations in the collaboration.				
	Both parties believe that it is worthwhile to stay and work with the other rather than terminate the collaboration.				

Table 2: Indicators to assess collaborative shared responsibility (Source Thomson, Perry and Miller 2008)

Source: Thomson, Perry & Miller 2008, Table 6.1, p.101.

2.4 Comparing state and territory bushfire and biodiversity legislation

A review of other states and territories indicates that their legislation, governance, and approaches of bushfire management is variable —Table 3. This review also provides information on the state and territories approach to firebreak requirements and asset protection, and the information tools that are provided to the public. Key programs and plans are also outlined and highlighted with an asterisk if it is considered relevant to RH&C.

Some initiatives that might be of interest to the RH&C region includes:

- The Tasmania Fire Service provides an online tool for calculating a recommended fire break in the urban-rural interface (described as peri-urban for the RH&C project).
- Tasmania has produced a review of information to assist with safe burning on private lands called 'Operational Guidelines and Review of Current Knowledge for Planned Burning in Tasmania".
- Western Australia has produced new 'Burn Smart A planned burning guide for small landholders'. This document is targeted for properties under 2 hectares and provides all the information required to decide about burning for fuel reduction.
- In Western Australia, local governments are required to develop an 'Integrated Bushfire Risk Management Plan' that addresses bushfire risk across all tenures.

- The New South Wales Rural Fire Service provides a user friendly 'Know your risk' that effectively conveys bushfire risk in context of different settings.
- An online mapping tool (for New South Wales) assists households to self-identify their fire danger based a range of attributes that includes location, vegetation, household construction, physical health, equipment and facilities.
- The New South Wales Hotspots Program trains landowners and land managers to actively participate in fire management see RH&C Spotlight Study 12.
- The 'Safer Together' program, in Victoria, is an across-agency initiative that uses the latest science and technology to address bushfire risk on private and public land.
- Since 2012, Victoria's 'Community-Led Planning' supports communities to develop their own risk reduction plans and focusses on seventeen high-risk communities.
- The project 'Sparking Conversations, Igniting action' is a bushfire resilience initiative that focuses on 12 communities in the greater Hobart area, Australia. It uses communication and the sharing of people's stories to improve the ability of community to be resilient against bushfires see <u>here</u>.

Table 3: Comparing select state and territory legislation, key agency, strategy and planning, asset protection and firebreak rules, fuel assessment methodology and other initiatives or offerings of note. The asterisk might be of interest to RH&C in the future.

State or	Key Fire agency/legislation	Key biodiversity	Strategy and planning	Bushfires and biodiversity	Asset Protection Zones and firebreak	Fuel assessment	Key things to note (points that are
ACT Fire Services funded through Territory budget, and increasingly from the Fire and Emergency Services Levy, which has grown rapidly over the last decade.	Key legislation - <i>Emergencies Act 2004</i> . The overall responsibility for the suppression of bushfires in the ACT lies with the ACT Emergency Services Agency (ESA) <u>here</u> , primarily with the ACT Rural Fire Service (ACT RFS) <u>here</u> . ACT Rural Fire Service (ACT RFS) is responsible for protecting life, property and the environment from all bush and grass fires in rural ACT areas. The ACT Multi Hazard Advisory Council is established under this Act and has an advisory role (to the Minister/s).	Agency/legislationKey legislation - NatureConservation Act 2014Environment, Planning andSustainable DevelopmentDirectorate here.Biodiversityis protected under the NatureConservation Act 2014.Department is alsoresponsible for developmentassessment under thePlanning and DevelopmentAct 2007.	• Yearly Bushfire Operations Plan (BOP) that outlines that actions that are required to meet the Strategic Bushfire Management Plan (a requirement under the Emergencies Act 2004). The plan is reviewed every 5 years.	 It is clearly stated that the Emergencies Act has precedence over the Nature Conservation Act 2014, for the purpose of protecting life or property and controlling, extinguishing or preventing the spread of a fire. It is less clear if this extends to preparation activities. No burn target number of hectares – uses residual risk approach, where bushfire risk is calculated using computer modelling by simulating fires and calculating the remaining risk. See Parliament research paper (McCormick and May 2021). 	 The asset protection zones and fuel management standards are separated according to the asset interface classification, vegetation type inner or outer APZ. The fuel management standards for APZ is specified according to length, break in between canopy or fuel gap to ground and vegetation stubble height. 	The ACT Bushfire Management Standards refers to the Victorian Governments Overall Fuel Hazard Guide	 A template for Farm FireWise is provided* The Strategic Bushfire Management Plan is a thorough, fit for purpose document. ACTmapi spatially represents bushfire prone areas, abatement zones, fire management zones and bushfire operation plans - <u>here</u>.
Tasmania It is noted that local councils collect a fire service rate that is given to the Tasmania Fire Service to pay for their operations. As of the time of this review, the Tasmania Government were considering a new Emergency Services Levy.	Key legislation – <i>Fire Service Act 1979</i> and <i>Emergency Management Act 2006</i> The Tasmanian Fire Service (TFS) <u>here</u> sits in the Department of Police, Fire and Emergency Management and is governed by the <i>Emergency</i> <i>Management Act 2006</i> (currently under review). When the Fire danger rating exceeds 50, recommended not to plan and defence.	Key legislation - The Nature Conservation Act 2022 and Threatened Species Protection Act 1995 Delivered by the Department of Natural Resources and Environment Tasmania (along with 110 other Acts).	 There is a State Fire Protection Plan that is more about governance and emergency management arrangements (less strategic). The State Vegetation Fire Management Policy is developed by the State Fire Management Council (as per the Fire Service Act 1979). 	 The Fuel Reduction Program communicates that fire doesn't harm the environment, but it doesn't address biodiversity conflicts or complementarities. The information on bushfires (wildfires) on the Department of Natural Resources and Environment Tasmania website is largely about caring for injured or orphaned animals after a fire. A coastal works manual provides messaging about maintaining vegetation and biodiversity protection. No specific target area for burns. The cross-agency, whole-of-state fuel reduction program will focus on areas that pose the greatest risk of bushfires in public and private land. Uses residual risk approach, where bushfire risk is calculated using computer modelling by simulating fires and calculating the remaining risk. See Parliament research paper (McCormick and May 2021). 	 The Tasmania Fire service provides guidelines and an online tool for calculating the fuel break in the urban-rural interface*. The tool is based on users specifying the predominant vegetation type, vegetation community, slope and the maximum fire distance (as detailed in the guidelines). Three fire management zones of Asset Zones (human settlement), Asset Protection Zones (the area within 1.05 km of human settlement) and Strategic Fuel Management Zones (the area between 1.05 km and 6.05 km from human settlement). 	The Department of Natural Resources and Environment Tasmania refers to Overall fuel hazard guide for South Australia (Department for Environment and Heritage, SA 2008).	 The Fuel Reduction Program is across the state and across agencies and includes public and private lands, overseen by Tasmania Fire Service and implemented by the Bushfire Risk Unit within TFS. A Community Protection Planning process initiative*: is implemented by TFS. It is a process that collates a range of attributes and features to predict potential fire impact at a community-level. A risk management response is developed for that community, and it involves working with communities, stakeholders and agencies short video here. It is guided by the National Emergency Risk Assessment Guidelines (NERAG). An Operational Guidelines and Review of Current Knowledge Planned Burning in Tasmania was published in 2009*. This enables safe and effective burning on private land that includes biodiversity (albeit minimal) considerations.
Western Australia Fire Services are mostly funded through the property-based	Key legislation – Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998, Bushfires Act 1954, Fire Brigades Act 1942 Department of Fire and Emergency Services as directed by the Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998. The State	Key legislation - Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016 and Conservation and Land Management Act 1984	 State Bushfire Advisory Council Guidelines for applying Bushfire Risk Standards - <u>here</u> Under the State Hazard Plan - Fire, 	 The Guidelines for applying Bushfire Risk Treatment Standards specify exclusions to the standards. It is clear that the Bushfires Act 1954 is superior to other environmental legislation, and 	• Asset Protection Zones (within 20 m from the wall of any habitable building) require tree crowns a minimum of 10 m apart, low trees pruned to height of 2 m, fuel load is less than 5 cm height or 2 tonnes per hectare, tall shrubs are not planted in clumps within 3 m of habitable building.	 Fire break requirement depends on size of property allotment, location (residential/rural)*. Lots 4001 m2 and above =3-m- wide trafficable firebreak 	 An At Risk communities program* – (shared responsibility) focussing on those at greater risk. A planned burn for bushfire mitigation purposes can occur at intervals greater than six years

State or Territory	Key Fire agency/legislation	Key biodiversity agency/legislation	Strategy and planning	Bushfires and biodiversity	Asset Protection Zones and firebreak requirements and guidance	Fuel assessment	Key things to note (points that are asterisked could be considered for RH&C)
Emergency Services Levy.	Emergency Management Committee and Office of Bushfire Risk Management work at a state level to oversee WA bushfire risk management. A bushfire risk management planning program (state-wide) direct the Rural Fire Division to reduce bushfire risk. Local government is heavily supported including grants to employ Bushfire Risk Planning Coordinators (local government).	Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions is the relevant department.	local governments in Western Australia (WA) with significant bushfire risk are required to develop an integrated Bushfire Risk Management (BRM) Plan that addresses bushfire risk across all land tenures.*	 the Fire and Emergency Services Commissioner can take oversight of bushfire control. The Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions has considerable information available on fire management - fuel reduction and biodiversity is a strong theme. The Good Neighbour Guidelines - <u>here</u>. Fire information notes to assist landowners to manage fuel loads while minimising impacts to biodiversity - <u>here</u>. The Burn Smart guidelines includes information on biodiversity and recommends appropriate burn intervals for particular vegetation communities. Annual burning target of 200,000 hectares to ensure that 60% state managed fuels are less than 6 years old at any one time. 	 Firebreak requirement for properties over 4047 m² and should be at least 3 m and maintained to a height of 10 cm. The recommended width varies between Councils (eg Margaret River suggest 4 m width) - here. Areas that are identified as Risk Treatment Area has two zones – the Inner Zone (defendable space between flammable vegetation and building) and the Outer Zone (land that is between 10 and 20 m of a relevant building). The allowed vegetation clearance is specified for each zone, except for the exclusions. 	 within 10 m of all boundaries. Visual fuel load assessment guidelines are provided for various regions in Western Australia - <u>here</u>. 	 without an authorisation under the <i>Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016.</i> Once the bushfire prone area is identified, a 100 m buffer is applied to the periphery of the bushfire prone vegetation. A bushfire preparation tool kit that essentially amalgamates all key considerations for an individual Landowner, in one fit for purpose document.* A Bushfire Ready program is supported by Bushfire Ready Facilitator to enable communities to meet and discuss how to be bushfire ready and prepared - <u>here.</u> New Burn Smart guidelines* were released in 2021 to assist Landowners with conducting burns to manage fuel load- <u>here.</u> Residents can request to install an alternative fire break, negotiated with local council, if it is impractical to install firebreaks according to council guidelines.
New South Wales Resilience NSW is the central billing and distribution agency for contributions from insurance companies and local government councils for FRNSW, NSW Rural Fire Service and NSW State Emergency Service	Key legislation - <i>Rural Fires Act 1997,</i> <i>Fire and Rescue Act 2004</i> and <i>State</i> <i>Emergency Act 1989</i> Under the Rural Fires Act 1997 the Bush Fire Coordinating Committee (BFCC) must constitute a Bush Fire Management Committee (BFMC) for each area in the State, which is subject to the risk of bush fires. Each BFMC is required to prepare and submit to the BFCC a draft Bush Fire Risk Management Plan (BFRMP).	Key legislation – National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974, Threatened Species Conservation Act 1995 and Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016 Requirements under these Acts are the responsibility of the New South Wales Department of Planning and Environment.	 New South Wales <i>State Emergency</i> <i>Management Plans</i> New South Wales Fire <i>Management Manual</i> Climate Change Impacts on bushfire Risk. Bushfire Risk Management Plans (BFRMPs). National parks and reserves in NSW have specific Fire <i>Management</i> <i>Strategies*</i> 	 The Rural Boundary Clearing Code excludes a range of high biodiversity assets thus providing them with greater protection. Enhanced Bushfire Management Program (operating since 2011) that focusses on fuel reduction programs. The Applied Bushfire Science Program was established to address bushfire risks to environmental and Aboriginal cultural values across New South Wales. Annual burning target of 135,000 hectares for five year rolling average. 	 Vegetation clearance within the Rural Zone is permitted up to 25 m ("This provides for the removal, destruction or pruning of any vegetation (including trees) by landowners on their own property within 25 m of the boundary of their holding. The clearing of vegetation provided for under this scheme is for bush fire hazard reduction and clearing should only be done to the minimum extent necessary for that purpose. As such, a landowner is not required to clear the entire 25 m in order for the clearing to be considered lawful"). There are exclusions that are based on biodiversity values. Asset Protection Zone width depends on slope, the type of asset and the type (and management) of surrounding vegetation. 10/50 vegetation clearance –tree clearance within 10 m of a home is permitted, with no approval required. The clearance of underlying vegetation is permitted within 50 m (the 10/50 vegetation clearance code of practice) – note this has been reviewed with key recommendations here. 	Reference to the Victorian Governments Overall Fuel Hazard Assessment Guide. This is embodied in the New South Wales Governments Fire Management Manual 2022- 23.	 The NSW Rural Fire Service provides an online mapping tool for households to better understand their fire danger* based on location, vegetation, household construction (and age), ability to respond (health, age, mental capacity etc), equipment available (current and future) and various other attributes - <u>here</u>. The NSW Rural Fire Service website provides a user friendly "Know your risk"* that empowers residents to better understand the type of fire risk in context of different settings - <u>here</u>. The NSW Hotspots program* that trains landowners and land managers with the skills and knowledge to actively participate in fire management. This is presented in the projects Spotlight Study #12. The NSW Rural Fire Service provides bi-annual Bushfire Bulletins - <u>here</u>
Victoria Annual funding is provided to the CFS through the State	Key legislation - Country Fire Authority Act 1958, Emergency Management Act 2013, Fire Rescue Victoria 1958 The State Emergency Plan oversees the roles of agencies responsible for	Key legislation - Wildlife Act 1975 and Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act 1988	 State Emergency Management Plan Emergency Risks Victoria The State Emergency Bushfire Sub-Plan 	The Bushfire Fuel Management Guide refers to potential conflict between biodiversity and bushfire preparation ("Achieving the • objectives of an Asset Protection Zone may have a	 Depending on the location of the property, there is a 10/30 rule and a 10/50 rule that does not require approvals. This is predominately determined by when building permit was issued, or previous bushfire impacts. 	Overall fuel hazard assessment guide 2010	The Victorian Governments Safer Together program is a partnership between fire and land agencies and communities, combining in-depth local knowledge with the latest science and technology to reduce

State or Territory	Key Fire agency/legislation	Key biodiversity agency/legislation	Strategy and planning	Bushfires and biodiversity	Asset Protection Zones and firebreak requirements and guidance	Fuel assessment	Key things to note (points that are asterisked could be considered for RH&C)
Government via the Fire Services Property Levy.	emergency management, and the Victorian Preparedness Framework. The Country Fire Authority is accountable to the Minister for Emergency Services.			 negative impact on natural environment values Where this is likely, planners should seek to moderate the negative impact, as far as practicable, provided that this does not compromise the safety objectives of this zone"). The Safer Together program (across-tenure approach) highlights the need to also manage the impacts of bushfires on threatened species. No burn target number of hectares – uses residual risk approach, where bushfire risk is calculated using computer modelling by simulating fires and calculating the remaining risk. See Parliament research paper (McCormick and May 2021) 	 Fence line clearance can occur without a permit if it doesn't exceed 4 m in width <u>here.</u> Four main management zones a) Asset Protection b) Bushfire Moderation c) Landscape Management and d) Fuel Management exclusion. Each of these has a trigger for the management required. 		 bushfire risk on both public and private land -<u>here</u>. <i>Community Led Planning</i> (including Community-based planning) is an approach that supports communities to develop their own localised risk reduction plans. This initiative commenced in 2012 and involved 17 high-risk communities*. The Country Fire Authority also provide <i>Bushfire Preparation</i> Meetings to ensure that community are prepared before the summer bushfire season.
South Australia Funding for the CFS is provided by the State Government, through Revenue SA and Transport SA, who collect the Emergency Services Levy, from home & vehicle owners.	Key legislation – Emergency Management Act 2004 and Fire and Emergency Services 2005. The State Emergency Plan is prepared under section 9 (1)(b) of the Act. The new State Bushfire Management Plan identifies the need to look at the relationship between the State Bushfire Coordination Committee and the State Emergency Management Committee.	Key legislation – National Parks and Wildlife Act 1972, Wilderness Protection Act 1992, Landscape South Australia Act 2019 and Native Vegetation Act 1991.	 South Australian Emergency Management Plan. The first State Bushfire. Management Plan (2021-2025) was published in 2022 as a requirement under the Fire and Emergency Services Act. The Nature Conservation Directions Statement 2020 here and the outdated No Species Loss here. The document The Effects of Fire on the Environment is excellent educational tool here. 	 The Native Vegetation Council have ecological prescribed burning guidelines <u>here</u>. DEW (NPWSA) have Ecological Fire Management Guidelines <u>here</u>. Prescribed burns in 2020- 2021 was 6261 (compared to 4091 in 2019-2020). The literature review could not source future targets. The Natural Values Team provides input on biodiversity considerations in fire management. 	 CFS guidelines specify preparing a 20 space around a home (includes removing fine fuels) and a 5-m fuel break along all fence lines and around buildings or sheds. With approval from CFS (and notification to NVC), clearance permitted includes a) large trees within 20m of a dwelling, b) establishing fuel break (less than 20m wide - Exception: if there is land already sufficiently clear of vegetation to provide comparable protection within 200 m (other than one that runs at a right angle), c) vegetation to maintain a fire track less than 15m wide. Clearance to access or establish a fence is permitted if it meets the requirements of a) needed for access, b) maximum of 10m wide for boundary fence, c) maximum of 1m in a road reserve. Asset Protection zone (A-zone;); · Bushfire Buffer zone (B-zone;); and · Conservation-Land Management zone (C-zone;), Strategic Fuel Management Zones (S-zone) and Exclusion Zone (X-zone) – see here The State Bushfire Coordination Committee have guidelines for firebreaks, fire access tracks and sign standards. These are reviewed every 5 years and the current version is 2018 	 NPWSA have the Overall Fuel Hazard Guide <u>here</u> and ensure it complies with the CFS Fire Management Zone Standard and Guidance for Use <u>here</u>. 	 Strategic aim prevention>preparedness>response> recovery. There are several useful documents on bushfires and biodiversity produced by DEW. South Australian guide on <i>Reducing</i> <i>Fire Risk in Gardens</i> <u>here</u>. The South Australian Burning on Private Land program provides ecological fire management strategies for eight species <u>here</u>.

3. Understanding fires and bushfires

3.1 Fundamentals of fire ecology

What is fire ecology?

Fire ecology is the study of fire in ecosystems and how it contributes to ecological processes (D. G. Nimmo et al., 2022). As "Fire is one of Earth's most potent agents of ecological change" (D. G. Nimmo et al., 2022), fire can be studied in a range of contexts. Different contexts may include analysing the immediate or long-term impacts of fire on particular species or communities, or looking at the driving processes of fire in different ecosystems or under different conditions (D. G. Nimmo et al., 2022). In Australia, fire ecology is a particularly important field of research due to the susceptibility of the Australian landscape to bushfires, and the increasing severity and frequency of bushfires such as the 2019-2020 bushfires (T. Penman et al., 2023) due to climate change. Although Australia's First Nations people have a strong relationship with fire (McKemey et al., 2021; The Royal Commission into National Natural Disaster Arrangements, 2020a), non-Indigenous Australians do not have a cultural co-existence with fire, and are less inclined to understand that fire is a natural process in the landscape (Edwards & Gill, 2016). It important that ecological fire concepts are conveyed and understand by community, so they have an improved appreciation of the critical role of fire in shaping landscapes and biodiversity, the cultural importance of fire for First Nations people, and the limitations to fire prevention.

Why is fire ecology important?

Understanding how species and ecological communities respond to fire is crucial in a fire-prone landscape (D. G. Nimmo et al., 2022). Each species has a preferred "fire regime" with some plants, for example, requiring fire to trigger seed germination processes, while other species may be highly sensitive to fire (Santos et al., 2022). An improved understanding about fire ecology will serve many purposes including; ensure that community and decision makers can make confident decisions about how to manage the impact of fires; provide opportunities to engage with community about effective biodiversity conservation and management and the role of fire; and improve predictive capability on bushfire spread, intensity and frequency.

The issue of "inappropriate fire regimes" is growing around Australia as some landscapes have been highly modified, are subject to poorly planned prescribed burns, or are experiencing changing conditions due to climate change (Santos et al., 2022). Inappropriate or altered fire regimes can include fires that are too frequent, not frequent enough, too hot, too cool, have too little spatial extent, too large a spatial extent and more (Bardsley et al., 2019; Santos et al., 2022). These inappropriate or altered fire regimes may have detrimental impacts on species, ecological communities, and the wider biodiversity resilience of Australia.

Australia's biodiversity is in a state of decline and the combined impacts from climate change, habitat fragmentation and degradation, invasive species, and altered fire regimes, are placing huge pressure on native animal and plant species (Silcock & Fensham, 2018; J. C. Z. Woinarski et al., 2015). Following the 2019-2020 bushfires, there is elevated concern about future extent and severity of fires. For example, 44% of threatened Australian plant species had at least some of their range burnt (Gallagher et al., 2021), and 118 threatened species (animals and plants) lost over half of their habitat (Wintle et al., 2020). These devastating impacts highlight the need for an improved understanding of the processes involved in bushfires and how to mitigate against these in the future.

Using fire ecology concepts to better manage and mitigate the impacts of future fires on vulnerable or significant ecosystems is important, not only for the inherent value of biodiversity, but also for the benefits that biodiversity provides to people, communities, and landscapes. Biodiverse natural spaces, including conservation parks, roadside vegetation, and urban trees, provide a range of ecosystem services such as the fixation of carbon dioxide (crucial in mitigating the impacts of climate change), temperature regulation, and many more (Mace et al., 2012; Romanelli et al., 2015).

Bushfires on the other hand, can have substantial and devastating impacts on human assets and communities. The physical impacts may include loss of human and animal lives and the loss of homes, businesses, other infrastructure, and agricultural stock (crops, livestock, etc.) (Filkov et al., 2020). Other indirect impacts may include extended time spent away from home fighting fires or on high-alert, and a decline in short and long-term economic output (Gangemi et al. 2003). The economic impacts from the 2019-2020 bushfires have been estimated at more than \$10 billion (Penman et al., 2023). Effectively conveying information on fire ecology to decision-makers and the general community is crucial to minimise the risk of exposure and reduce the impacts of fire on human assets and biodiversity.

What does a fire need?

Fire is the result of a reaction between heat, oxygen, and fuel (Bushfire and Hazards CRC). It requires the heat to ignite and then fuel and oxygen to continue and expand, once established the fire then self-generates its own heat, thus becoming self-supporting (CSIRO, 2022). These three core elements of heat, fuel, and oxygen, known as the fire triangle (Figure 6), are further explained below (CSIRO, 2022):

- Heat Fire needs a source of heat to cause ignition and support the combustion of materials. Some potential sources include lightning or power tools and machinery.
- Fuel Fires also require a source of fuel to start and to continue to burn. In the context of bushfires, this fuel is mostly vegetation, but many other materials are also combustible. Different materials have variable thresholds of temperature before combustion. Radiant heat from the fire can heat up materials to the required temperature but can also dry out materials, making them more easily combustible.
- Oxygen Fire also requires an oxidizer to ignite and continue burning. While oxygen is not the only oxidation agent available, it is by far the most abundant.



Figure 6: The three key elements of the fire triangle.

What influences the behaviour of a fire?

The way that a fire behaves is determined by ignition, the way it moves and spreads, the development of flames and heat, and the consumption of fuel (typically vegetation) (Bushfire and Hazards CRC n.d; Department for Environment and Water n.d. <u>website</u>). Understanding the behaviour of fire is important as it empowers land managers, landowners, and decision makers to understand the factors that will perpetuate a fire, thus providing guidance on fire management and preparation. Fire behaviour attributes are core elements of bushfire models. Fuels, weather, and topography are the key determinates of fire behaviour (Department for Environment and Water; Bushfire and Hazards CRC, NSW Hotspots Program). This is further described below (Country Fire Service SA, 2023; CSIRO, 2022).

• <u>Fuels</u>: As the primary source of fuel for bushfires, vegetation can heavily influence the behaviour of the fire. Vegetation characteristics may include fuel type, arrangement, and quantity.

The fuel type or specific vegetation composition (what different plant species are present) has an influence as some species are more flammable than others and have different densities of woody and leafy fuels.

There are four broad categories of fuels: surface fuel, near surface fuel, elevated fuel, and canopy (Figure 7). Surface and near surface fuels include the arrangement of fine fuels such as leaf litter and grasses. The arrangement of vegetation such as the connectivity between individual plants or stands of vegetation both horizontally and vertically can significantly influence fire behaviour. For example, fire may more easily spread to the canopy in vegetation with high vertical connectivity through the surface, near surface, and elevated fuel layers (e.g., tall grasses, large woody shrubs, and a low canopy has high vertical connectivity) (Figure 7). This creates a higher intensity fire with more chance of spotting (spread of fire through embers). The 2019-2020 bushfires on Kangaroo Island, for example, were characterised by high connectivity between larger and smaller stands of remnant vegetation, allowing the fire to spread (Bonney et al., 2020).

Connectivity and vegetation arrangement should not be considered in isolation, the quantity of vegetation can also influence the fire behaviour as more vegetation equals more fuel.



Figure 7: Categories of fuel along the vertical plane from the Bushfire Centre of Excellence and the Department of Fire and Emergency Services WA (2021). Note that the canopy fuel is not labelled however it is the uppermost layer in the diagram.

• <u>Weather</u>: Temperature, humidity, and long and short-term conditions concerning rainfall are large influencers of fire behaviour. Drought conditions or little recent rainfall will contribute to lower moisture levels in the vegetation increasing the potential fire hazard (CSIRO, 2022). In South Australia, daily weather conditions are now measured using the Australian Fire Danger Rating System (AFDRS) and are updated daily at 5pm during the fire season (Australian and New Zealand National Council for Fire and Emergency Services, 2022).

While wind is considered a component of weather conditions, it can have a strong impact on fire behaviour independent of other weather conditions. The wind speed and direction influence the speed and direction of fire and can heavily influence the size of the fire front. For example, if a fire is being blown by a northerly wind with the fire front occurring south from the point of origin and a south-westerly wind change occurs, the fire front would shift to the eastern flank resulting in a much large front. A wind change like this is one of the most dangerous things that can occur during a bushfire. This change from a northeast-north westerly wind direction to a southerly wind was another characteristic of the fires on Kangaroo Island during the 3rd and 4th of January 2020 (CS Resilience & SA CFS, 2020).

Atmospheric stability is the vertical movement of air in the atmosphere. An unstable atmosphere causes increased upward and downward wind currents, resulting in more dangerous fire behaviour. A stable atmosphere is characterised by relatively little air movement, resulting in calmer fire behaviour.

• <u>Topography</u>: Bushfire behaviour is also influenced by the topography of a landscape. Fires spread faster uphill as the fire can burn and preheat materials ahead of it. For each 10° slope increase, the speed of fire will double. For example, if a fire is spreading at 5 km per hour on flat ground and it hits a 10° slope increase, the fire spread will increase to 10 km per hour (The Bushfire Foundation n.d <u>website</u>). Similarly, fire spreads slower downhill.

3.2 Influencers of bushfire risk

The assessment of fire risk, fire hazard, and fire exposure are often used interchangeably, and it is critical to define how these are different so that community and households are clear about what they are doing and for what purpose.

Bushfire risk can be defined as the likelihood (what is the possibility of a fire starting) and consequence (the "effects" of the fire) of a fire igniting, spreading, and impacting on people, property, assets, and the environment. There are a range of factors that can determine this risk that vary in terms of the ability of individuals or agencies to manage.



Figure 8: The key determinates of bushfire risk and the four fire management stages (Source: The Royal Commission into National Natural Disaster Arrangements Report 2020.

Factors such as weather, topography and fuels cannot always be managed, however other risk factors such as location of assets and use of building materials can be better planned. It is assumed that under the right conditions, a bushfire can start anywhere, particularly in a bushfire hazard area. Therefore, there is emphasis on assessing the risk of fire and the likely consequences if the bushfire were to spread and how it may spread.

There are three key factors that contributes to, and influences the level of bushfire risk (Figure 8) (The Royal Commission into National Natural Disaster Arrangements, 2020b). These are summarised below:

- <u>Bushfire hazard:</u> the hazard will influence what what a fire will do and how it will behave in the landscape. It is a source of potential harm or a situation with a potential to cause loss.
- <u>Bushfire exposure</u>: the different elements that are "exposed" to a bushfire and the tangible losses that can occur. The different types of elements can include people, pets, houses and other infrastructure, materials, and production assets. As an example, building a house away from native vegetation will reduce exposure, and having accessible and well-maintained roads, will reduce exposure as people can safely leave during a bushfire event.

• <u>Bushfire vulnerability</u>: the probability of people, assets, community, and production to be harmed or damaged by a bushfire. As an example, a household without a vehicle that lives in a remote fire-prone area is more vulnerable to a bushfire when compared to a household that has a vehicle and lives in a well-connected area, as the latter could safely leave an area during a bushfire. Another example is a low socio-economic demographic group that are not educated on bushfire risk and/or don't have the financial ability to implement bushfire preparedness activities, are likely more vulnerable to bushfires.

As of 1 September 2022, a new fire danger rating system was introduced that provides a simple, consistent, and action-orientated approach to understanding fire danger ratings and the protection actions that are required. The new four level fire danger system includes; moderate (plan and prepare); high (be ready to act); extreme (take action immediately to protect life and property); catastrophic (for survival, leave bushfire risk areas) – <u>see here</u>.

4. First Nations fire management

4.1 Background

Prior to European colonisation, Indigenous land managers used fire as a regenerative tool to maintain vegetation and cultural landscapes in many parts of Australia (Bardsley et al., 2019; Natural Hazards Research Australia, 2023). Deliberate burning of native vegetation was practiced for many reasons: to reduce fuel loads in order to prevent wildfires in many vegetation types; to thin out the understorey and make it walkable for people; to promote seed germination of fire-dependent plants; to stimulate the growth of green shoots which in turn provided forage for herbivores; and to maintain important cultural sites (Steffensen, 2020).

Indigenous fire management is still widely used and accepted over large areas of northern Australia, where traditional burning practices have remained in continuous use (e.g. Yibarbuk et al., 2002). In recent times in Northern Australia, burning by First Nations groups has been formally woven into wildfire-suppression and carbon emissions abatement policies across savanna habitats (Perry et al., 2021).

There has been renewed interest in reviving Indigenous burning techniques as a cultural practice and a land management tool in southern Australia over the last few years, among Indigenous and non-Indigenous communities (W. Smith et al., 2021; Steffensen, 2020). This reflects a growing recognition worldwide about the importance of fire-management by Indigenous groups (Hoffman et al., 2021). Interest and public support for a revival of First Nations land management using fire appears to have increased in southern Australia since the 2019-2020 bushfires. The topic gained sufficient public profile that by 2020 it was discussed by the Royal Commission following the 2019-2020 bushfires, as a method to suppress wildfires (The Royal Commission into National Natural Disaster Arrangements, 2020a). Support for Indigenous land-management is a key recommendation from a recent review and synthesis by the CSIRO of the 2019–2020 bushfires (J. Woinarski, Legge, et al., 2023).

4.2 Traditional fire-management practices & biodiversity

It is understood that First Nations groups typically conduct small-scale, cool, low-intensity burns of leaf litter and the understory in South Australia, resulting in a patchwork of vegetation of different fire-ages within the landscape. The season and timing of burns is carefully selected, usually following rain, so that flammable material smoulders slowly, flames do not reach the canopy, and soil moisture helps limit the speed at which the fire front travels which gives wildlife a chance of escaping (Steffensen, 2020). Such cool burns are intended to be regenerative. In contrast, bushfires that threaten biodiversity, are usually larger in scale and burn hotter — and as a result often scorch or completely denude the canopy and kill or displace wildlife (Ward et al., 2023).

From the mid-20th Century onwards, it was increasingly acknowledged that European fire-management practices, or lack thereof, were contributing to catastrophic wildfires in many Australian regions through fuel build-up. This led to the introduction of prescribed burns to reduce fuel loads in order to prevent major bushfires and to create firebreaks, primarily to protect infrastructure (Burrows & McCaw, 2013). Later, as non-Indigenous fire-managers became more conservation-aware, prescribed burns began to be carried out in a patchwork fashion, to reduce overall fuel loads within landscapes while maintaining a mosaic of habitats of different fire ages to conserve native species and habitats (Burrows & McCaw, 2013; Gill, 2012). While from a biodiversity perspective this was doubtless an improvement on unabated fuel-load build-up, or prescribed burns taking no account of vegetation age, prescribed burns in a mosaic pattern do not fully replicate traditional, cool, small-scale burns, and do

not necessarily involve a nuanced reading of local vegetation or soil conditions. For example, in some landscapes prescribed burns are not conducted from the ground, but through dropping aerial incendiary devices from helicopters (B. P. Murphy et al., 2015).

Discussions around the biodiversity implications of re-establishing First Nations fire-management practices within landscapes, where the management has been suppressed, need to consider that many habitats have been heavily modified since European colonisation, and many are now heavily impacted by invasive species. It is unlikely that pre-European environments can be replicated simply by applying fire in traditional ways. For example, in northern Australia highly invasive gamba grass (*Andropogon gayanthus*) has greatly increased fuel loads where it occurs. When burnt, this plant has the potential to degrade native habitats across entire landscapes due to the intense heat it creates which kills off native vegetation (Setterfield et al., 2013). Bushfires are known to exacerbate the impacts of invasive plants (Keighery et al., 2023) and animals (Legge, Duncan, et al., 2023) on native ecosystems. It is likely that in nearly all habitats, invasive species will require consideration and management before or after planned burns, to achieve the best possible outcomes for biodiversity.

4.3 Cultural burns, Indigenous land management & fuel hazard reduction

Given heightened interest in re-establishing Indigenous fire-management practices in southern Australia, its potential for the Resilient Hill & Coasts region requires careful consideration. Indigenous burning practices are highly nuanced and landscape-specific, and should not be viewed simplistically as a 'one size fits all' bushfire prevention and land-management solution that can be appropriated by non-Indigenous practitioners (Lindenmayer & Bowd, 2022). Respectful engagement with local First Nations representatives by government agencies, NGOs, and fire-management authorities is needed — recognising that building relationships is key (W. Smith et al., 2021), that First Nations cultures and burning practices are pluralistic, and burning practices are under re-development in regions where they have historically been suppressed (C. Robinson et al., 2023).

The dissemination of knowledge about Indigenous burning practices frequently relies upon volunteer or day-labour from Indigenous practitioners (C. Robinson et al., 2023; W. Smith et al., 2021). This may ultimately benefit First Nations groups by increasing their social license to practice cultural burns in locations from which they have previously been excluded (C. Robinson et al., 2023). However, non-Indigenous groups should take care not to call upon the time, knowledge, and labour of First Nations land-managers for free, with the aim of fuel load reduction to mitigate bushfire risk for the benefit the broader community. Sustainable, long-term funding models are needed to support Indigenous involvement in land-management (Ens et al., 2012).

Despite these caveats, fuel-load reduction using controlled burns is a common goal of Indigenous landmanagers, and the revival of traditional burning practices may have the effect of reducing the risks that bushfires pose to the broader community. The suppression of Indigenous burning practices is thought to have altered the structure of vegetation across areas of south-eastern Australia within the last 200 years, and is a key concern for some Indigenous groups (Fletcher et al., 2021; Laming et al., 2022). There is evidence that these changes to vegetation structure have likely increased the risk of bushfires that threaten not only biodiversity, but infrastructure and human lives as well (Fletcher et al., 2021; Mariani et al., 2022).

The term 'cultural burn' is sometimes used as an umbrella term for any burn carried out by Indigenous practitioners for any purpose, but increasingly, some are careful to distinguish between burns practiced by First Nations groups for their own cultural reasons — including the maintenance of culturally significant sites and the passing of stories, language and other traditional knowledge — and land-

management of a more general nature carried out by Indigenous practitioners, including fuel-load reduction. The goals and decision-making priorities of First Nations groups and non-Indigenous fire managers and conservationists may differ, and any differences of opinion about whether and when to burn, and where, need to be carefully navigated (C. Robinson et al., 2023).

There may also be differences of opinion between First Nations groups about what burns are appropriate or necessary. A recent article argued that in Victoria, conservation legislation introduced in the 1970s suppressed the burning practices of pastoralists who had, until then, managed pasture by mimicking the earlier Indigenous burning practices of the region, leading to the proliferation of flammable eucalypts and more frequent and intense bushfires in formerly open country (Laming et al., 2022). However, some Indigenous knowledge-holders and scientists are concerned that this narrative has been overstated and extrapolated over too wide an area, and may be misleading government policy on fire suppression, conservation, and the logging of Victoria's native forests (Wilson, 2023). Further research into past burning practices across multiple regions, and experimental burning protocols, will be needed to inform future burning regimes across southern Australia.

4.4 Indigenous fire and land-management in the RH&C region

The western side of the Fleurieu Peninsula, comprising the Adelaide Plain, is the Country of the Kaurna nation, the Adelaide Hills extending south to Mount Barker and west to Myponga is Peramangk country, and the southern side of the Fleurieu Peninsula is Ngarrindjeri country. There is little recorded information about what burning practices were used by local First Nations groups in the Mount Lofty Ranges/Fleurieu Peninsula prior to European colonisation in the 1830s, and therefore little guidance about how different vegetation types were maintained (Bardsley et al., 2019). However, there is local interest in reviving burning practices that were suppressed from the colonial era onwards. Recent workshops on cultural burning have been held in various locations, including the first cultural burn to take place on the Adelaide Plain in the modern era, which was performed in Adelaide's south parklands in 2021 (Landscape SA, 2022).

Kangaroo Island — known to local Indigenous groups by the name Karta — is unique in the RH&C region, in that no Indigenous communities were resident on the island at the time of European contact. It is unlikely that its vegetation was being actively managed with fire for hundreds, or perhaps thousands, of years (Draper, 2015). Despite this, the island is of great cultural and spiritual importance to at least four First Nations groups on the mainland — Kaurna, Ngarrindjeri, Peramangk and Narrunga. For these groups, it is the culturally taboo 'island of the dead' (Draper, 2015). Following the 2019–2020 bushfires, which severely burnt around half of Karta-Kangaroo Island and threatened numerous unique plants and animals with extinction, members of the Kaurna, Ngarrindjeri and Narungga communities travelled to the island for a three-day workshop on cultural burning, with the intention of resuming a cultural responsibility to care for the landscape using fire (The KI Islander, 2022).

Land-management by First Nations groups within the RH&C region is very early in its development but has an opportunity to grow. Current guidelines on ecological fire management for native vegetation in SA, published a decade ago (Government of South Australia, 2013), described the past burning practices of Indigenous groups in Australia as having 'compromised' whatever natural fire-regimes that existed on the continent before 50,000 years ago. Ten years later, burns led by First Nations fire-managers have now begun to occur in multiple regions in southern South Australia with the endorsement of the Landscape Boards (Landscape SA, 2022), which is an indicator of how much progress has been made in changing public and government attitudes towards more traditional uses of fire to care for the land.

5. Fire and Biodiversity

In its broadest sense, biodiversity, or biological diversity, is the total diversity of all living things. The word encompasses all species of plants, animals, fungi, and all varieties of micro-organisms. An ecosystem with a wider variety of lifeforms (higher species-richness) is generally regarded as healthier, and more stable and resilient to change, than a simpler one composed of fewer lifeforms. A recent global study found, for example, found that greater plant diversity within ecosystems was associated with higher ecosystem stability over the last 20 years of climate change (Oliveira et al., 2022).

Conserving biodiversity involves preventing extinctions of individual species so that overall speciesrichness is maintained. It also involves: maintaining species-richness within individual habitat patches; maintaining a diversity of different habitat types across a landscape; and maintaining genetic diversity within populations, so that organisms and ecosystems have the capacity to adapt to altered environmental conditions such as climate change, as well as recover from localised events such as bushfires. Perceptions about the biodiversity effects from fire depend on the scale at which they are assessed. Most fire-response studies focus on a single site and therefore only consider within-patch species-richness (alpha-diversity), rather than between-site variation (beta-diversity), or diversity across entire landscapes (gamma-diversity) (Farnsworth et al., 2014).

Fire has been a feature of Australian ecosystems for millions of years (Keeley & Pausas, 2022), and the relationship between fire and biodiversity is complex. Fire is both a key driver of ecological processes across the continent, but is also increasingly a threat to the survival of many species and ecosystems (e.g., de Bie et al., 2021; Ward et al., 2023; Woinarski et al., 2015). Since April 2022, "Fire regimes that cause declines in biodiversity" has been listed as a Key Threatening Process under the Commonwealth *Environment Protection Biodiversity and Conservation Act*, 1999 (the EPBC Act). Under this legislation, inappropriate fire regimes have been identified as a threat to the survival of over 800 species and 65 threatened ecological communities. The Federal Environment Minister in 2022 opted to support the "development of alternative approaches to reducing the risk of fire to Australia's biodiversity, including stronger action on climate change" (DCCEEW, 2022b) in favour of developing an overarching *Threat Abatement Plan* under the EPBC Act to address the *Key Threatening Process*.

5.1 Plants and fire

Some Australian plant species and habitat types are sensitive to fire but have evolved strategies for coping with it, while others actively benefit from certain fire regimes. Major Australian plant families have evolved fire strategies that have lasted for tens of millions of years, and the responses they have evolved include: the growth of lignotubers (swollen stem bases) from which plants can resprout (e.g. melaleucas); epicormic sprouting, that is, regrowth from buds held beneath the bark (e.g., eucalypts); fire-stimulated germination of seeds from the soil bank (e.g., species of *Pomaderris*); and serotiny, or fire-stimulated release of seeds from hard capsules held on the plant (e.g., banksias) (Keeley & Pausas, 2022). The germination of many native plants is greatly enhanced by fire, not necessarily directly through heat, but is aided indirectly via chemical compounds derived from burnt vegetation (Keeley & Pausas, 2018).

Eucalypts (plants in the genus *Eucalyptus*, and related genera such as *Corymbia* and *Angophora*), which are the dominant overstorey trees throughout most of Australia's savanna and sclerophyll biomes, are thought to have evolved the ability to resprout after fire some 60 million years ago, corresponding with the rise of highly flammable habitats (Crisp et al., 2011). The eucalypt groups that dominate forests and woodlands of south-eastern Australia arose within the last 20 million years, and those that are dominant within semi-arid open woodlands, mallee and mallet` (a small tree form of Eucalyptus found

in Western Australia) of southern Australia diversified within the last two to three million years as the continent became more arid (Thornhill et al., 2019). The flammability of Australian vegetation is therefore of great antiquity, and relatively recent, drier, climates have intensified the diversification of the highly flammable eucalypts throughout most of Australia.

Despite many of Australia's dominant plant species having evolved in response to aridity and fire-prone conditions over the last few million years, this does not make ecological communities immune to the effects of current and future climate change, nor to the application of inappropriate burning regimes. Inappropriate fire regimes have been identified as a key threatening process for 65 threatened ecological communities across Australia, some of which are eucalypt dominated, as well as to individual species of plant (DCCEEW, 2022b, 2023). Threat factors include: fire frequency (too frequent or not frequent enough); fire season (out-of-season fire can interfere with critical life processes such as reproduction); and fire intensity/severity (some plants may benefit from very high temperature fires, others from lower temperature fires) (DCCEEW, 2022b).

Reflecting the diversity of responses that Australian plants have to fire, the 2019–2020 bushfires had both negative and positive effects on different species. Short-range (meaning a reduced distribution) endemics were particularly at risk, and some such as the Wollemi Pine required intensive protection to survive, but on the other hand, a number of rare fire-ephemeral species — that is, ones that emerge only after fire — were reported from various locations after the fires, including at locations that did not burn and where germination was presumably triggered by chemicals in drifting smoke (Gallagher et al., 2023). Actual impacts on individual species are difficult to determine, but a large proportion of South Australia's endemic and threatened plants had some or most of their known ranges burnt (see Table 4).

No. of species	Range data available	No. of endemics impacted by 2019–2020 fires	% of endemics impacted by 2019–2020 fires	Endemics with >30% of range burnt	Endemics with >50% of range burnt	Endemics with >90% of range burnt	
SA endemic plant species							
488	457	160–319	31–70%	56–58 (12– 13%)	37–38 (8%)	3–6 (0–1%)	
SA threatened plant species							
807	769	404–665	53–87%	34–40 (4–5%)	19–21 (2–3%)	3–4 (<1%)	

Table 4: South Australian plants affected by the 2019–2020 bushfires (modified from Gallagher et al., 2023)

5.2 Fungal and bacterial community responses to fire

The diversity and distribution of fungal communities is relatively poorly studied and understood, even before considering their relationships to fire. For example, Australia has around 15,000 formally described fungal species, but their actual diversity is estimated to sit between 50,000 and 250,000 species (May et al., 2023). Despite fundamental gaps in our understanding of their diversity, distribution, and ecological interactions, fungi are known to play intricate roles in healthy ecosystems. They decompose organic matter, form ecologically crucial mutualisms with plant roots that help with nutrient uptake and seedling establishment, as well as forming mutualisms with algae/cyanobacteria that comprise the lichens that form soil crusts, and furthermore provide an important food source for mammals in the aftermath of bushfires (May et al., 2023).

Bacterial communities are even more poorly understood than fungal ones, and a limited amount of research exists on their fire responses. A study of soil bacteria and fungi in dry sclerophyll forests in

south-eastern Australia found that bacterial communities were more resilient after fire than fungal ones (Bowd et al., 2022). Given that soil microbial communities appear to take several years to recover after fire, too-frequent prescribed burns or bushfires, may harm their ability to recover (Bowd et al., 2022). Some species re-establish quickly, while other species favour long-unburnt habitats (May et al., 2023). Due to low levels of baseline knowledge of soil microbes, routine monitoring of bacteria and fungi should be integrated into ecological monitoring programs to assess their recovery dynamics after fire and the ecological implications of this (Bowd et al., 2022).

5.3 Fauna and fire

As with plants, the Australian fauna has evolved alongside fire for millions of years and has developed strategies to co-exist with it. Some animal species may benefit from it directly, e.g., opportunistic foraging in a fire scar by lyrebirds (Doty et al., 2015), and possibly even the intentional spreading of fire by several species of raptor in northern Australia in order to drive out prey (Bonta et al., 2017). Others animal species benefit indirectly, such as through fire opening up habitat structure and so making it easier to detect predators (Doherty et al., 2022), or via stimulation of new plant growth and flowering that increasing food resources for birds (Gill et al., 1999).

Despite benefits to some species, and the adaptation of others to cope with fire, inevitably individual animals may be killed in large numbers by bushfires. It is estimated that nearly three billion vertebrate animals died during the 2019–2020 bushfires (van Eeden & Dickman, 2023). In healthy ecosystems with large and well dispersed populations this should not threaten the survival of species; however, fire can threaten the survival of species when they have small remnant populations, populations that are geographically concentrated, or exist in poorly connected habitat 'islands' that mean they can't escape or recolonise easily. Many species are also highly susceptible to predation in the aftermath of a fire because of a loss of shelter, and because they may have to forage for longer or in different locations than usual to meet their requirements (Doherty et al., 2022).

Fire impacts animals, but conversely, animal activities can also influence fire. For example, grazing (grass-eating) animals reduce fuel loads, browsing (shrub/tree-eating) animals may limit the spread of fire upwards into forest canopy by increasing the vertical separation of understory and overstory, and trodden pathways created by animals are likely to act as natural fire breaks because of an absence of leaf litter (Foster et al., 2020). Digging animals are also thought to influence fuel loads and flammability by incorporating leaf litter into the soil, which removes some of the flammable material and also increases soil moisture (Davies et al., 2019). Ants and termites are likely to play a similar role by mobilising soil into the leaf litter layer (Foster et al., 2020). In theory, bioturbation of the soil and leaf litter by small animals should lead to reduced wildfire risk due to faster breakdown of the highly flammable litter layer (Hayward et al., 2017).

In the Adelaide and Mount Lofty Ranges region, one species of small digging marsupial known to have gone locally extinct since European colonisation, is the Greater Bilby *Macrotis lagotis* (Armstrong et al., 2003). Whether this has adversely affected regional bushfire risk is uncertain given several other small digging mammals remain — the Southern Brown Bandicoot (*Isoodon obesulus obesulus*), Bush Rat (*Rattus fuscipes*), and Short-beaked Echidna (*Tachyglossus aculeatus*). Similarly, on Kangaroo Island the Southern Brown Bandicoot, Bush Rat, and Echidna also persist (A. C. Robinson & Armstrong, 1999), and presumably continue to influence soil and litter processes where they occur. The Holocene fossil record of Kangaroo Island shows that it supported a wider diversity of small digging mammals within the past few thousand years than today, but a host of 20th Century species introductions to the island have complicated our understanding of which species were surviving on the island at the time of European

arrival (A. C. Robinson & Armstrong, 1999). Pre-19th Century animal-fire dynamics on the Island are therefore speculative.

Birds

There are abundant studies of bird populations in relation to fire, but there remains substantial knowledge gaps (Lindenmayer, 2022). Bird diversity depends at least in part on the fire age of vegetation. A study in mallee habitat found that long-unburnt habitat patches supported a greater diversity of birds than younger patches, and concluded that retaining these unburnt patches was probably of greater importance to bird diversity than maintaining a mosaic of vegetation with different fire ages (R. S. Taylor et al., 2012). Similar findings in the Mount Lofty Ranges reinforce this, where fire was found to favour only certain guilds of birds (large generalist species, and ground-feeders) while disadvantaging woodland specialists (Prowse et al., 2017). Protecting long-unburnt habitat from bushfires and prescribed burns is a key recommendation for conserving bird diversity in the aftermath of the 2019–2020 bushfires (Garnett et al., 2023).

Proximity to unburn habitat can be an important factor in how quickly bird populations recover from fire. Following a large-scale wildfire in the Pilliga Forest in central-eastern New South Wales, bird diversity remained steady in nearby unburnt areas, but sites within the fire scar took longer to recover the further away from the edge of the fire scar they were. Research indicates that avian diversity bounced back to pre-fire levels within two years at sites 2 km from the edge of the fire scar, but at sites 4 km from the edge of the fire scar bird diversity was still recovering 7 years after the fire (M. J. Murphy et al., 2021). Fire extent, and proximity to unburnt habitat, are likely to be factors in how well the populations of some animal species recover after fire, and at a landscape scale, communities may take longer to recover following larger scale fires than smaller ones (M. J. Murphy et al., 2021).

Most bird species are highly mobile and are therefore better able to escape bushfires than many other animal groups, but populations can still be severely impacted, especially by large-scale fires, if food resources are reduced. Following the 2019–2020 bushfires, the IUCN's *Red Index* for Australian birds declined by >9%. Kangaroo Island's birds were severely affected, with 16 endemic species or subspecies having >25% of their habitat burnt; the highest in the country was the KI Southern Emu-wren *Stipiturus malachurus halmaturinus*, which had 68% of its modelled distribution burnt (Garnett et al., 2023).

There are currently three bird species in South Australia for which fire management guidelines have been published, all of which have very limited geographical distributions and are classed as Endangered (see Table 5). Two of these (Glossy Black-cockatoo and MLR Southern Emu-wren) occur in the RH&C region. Considering the 2019-2020 bushfires, guidelines for additional species, including Kangaroo Island endemics, may need to be developed.

Common name	Scientific name	SA status (NPW Act 1972)	National status (EPBC Act 1999)	
Glossy Black-cockatoo	Calyptorhynchus lathami halmaturinus	Endangered	Endangered	
South-eastern Red-tailed Black-cockatoo	Calyptorhynchus banksii graptogyne	Endangered	Endangered	
Mount Lofty Ranges Southern Emu-wren	Stipiturus malachurus intermedius	Endangered	Endangered	

Table 5: South Australian birds with fire-management guidelines

Frogs

Frogs are relatively poorly studied compared to other vertebrate groups, and fire impacts are therefore less well known, especially impacts on tadpoles (Mahony et al., 2023). It is likely that tadpoles would be subject to many of the negative impacts from fire experienced by other aquatic vertebrates (see *Aquatic ecosystems and fire* below). A review of genetic datasets after the 2019-2020 bushfires revealed that much genetic data that has been collected on frogs is as yet unpublished, but indicates that frog species diversity is likely to be underestimated due to cryptic diversity within species complexes (Catullo et al., 2021).

Mahony et al., 2023 identified two main functional groups of frogs in relation to fire-adaptedness: species that are fire-adapted and live in fire-prone habitats, which generally shelter from fire in wet mud, tree hollows, or under debris and rocks; and fire-sensitive species that live in habitats that rarely if ever burn, which usually shelter in flammable shrubs or leaf-litter, and are therefore unlikely to survive fire. During the 2019-2020 bushfires many riparian habitats burnt for the first time in living memory (Mahony et al., 2023). Prescribed and cultural burns to manage flammable riparian vegetation have been suggested to mitigate against future fire risks (Fryirs et al., 2022). If this is adopted, potential impacts on fire-sensitive frog species would need to be assessed.

Snakes and lizards

Australia has 10% of the world's snake and lizard (squamate) species, of which 96% are endemic, but they are poorly studied compared to other vertebrate groups, and genetic data suggests that their diversity is underestimated; together, these factors make it difficult to assess population trajectories over time (D. Nimmo et al., 2023).

A study in remnant habitat in an urban setting in Perth found that squamate numbers and diversity returned nearly to baseline within two to three years after fire (Davis & Doherty, 2015). However, effects are likely to depend on the species, with some preferring long unburnt habitat with abundant leaf-litter (Davis & Doherty, 2015), and nearly 80 species of squamate Australia-wide considered to be threatened by altered fire regimes (D. Nimmo et al., 2023).

Ideal fire regimes to maintain squamate diversity require further research. It was assumed in the past that a mosaic of vegetation with different fire-ages would benefit squamate diversity, but experimental prescribed burns to create a mosaic of fire ages did not confirm this (Pastro et al., 2011), this result was also experienced at the landscape scale (Farnsworth et al., 2014).

Mammals

Australian mammals have fared particularly poorly since European colonisation, with altered fire regimes being just one of a number of factors that have contributed to their decline, along with other forms of habitat loss/degradation, and predation by introduced cats and foxes. As a result of these impacts, around 30 species of mammal are known to have gone extinct Australia-wide (Burbidge et al., 2008; Woinarski et al., 2015), and Australia is acknowledged to have one of the highest rates of mammal extinctions in the world (Woinarski et al., 2015).

Despite having suffered higher rates of extinction than other vertebrates at the species level, Australia's surviving mammals retain high levels of between-population diversity. A process of benchmarking unrecognised taxonomic and genetic diversity after the 2019–2020 bushfires revealed that Australia's mammals have 40 unrecognised 'evolutionarily significant units' (ESUs – populations that are isolated from one another, are regionally distinctive, or that require managing as separate entities) — more
than twice the number of ESUs in the next highest group, the reptiles, which had 19 unrecognised ESUs (Catullo et al., 2021). Knowledge of these distinctive populations will need to be taken into account in regional and state-wide fire-management planning.

Unsuitable fire regimes are a threat to the vast majority (88%) of Australia's threatened mammal species (Santos et al., 2022). There are currently four threatened mammal species in South Australia for which fire management guidelines have been developed (see Table 6). Of these, two — the KI Dunnart and Southern Brown Bandicoot — occur within the RH&C region and will require ongoing consideration when deciding on regional fire management strategies for biodiversity. The KI Dunnart was the most severely affected mammal taxon in the country after the 2019–2020 bushfires, with 95% of its known habitat occurring within the fire scar (Woinarski et al., 2023). One of the major impacts that fires can have on rare fauna is reducing the overall size of their populations, which could have knock-on effects on the recovery of entire ecosystems where they play important roles such as pollination or spreading fungal spores. One strategy to combat this is ongoing commitment to measures such as feral predator control to enable the size of native mammal populations to increase, providing a buffer against future fires (Woinarski et al., 2023).

Under climate change scenarios, a continuation of once-suitable fire regimes has the potential to cause mammal populations to decline (Santos et al., 2022), and current strategies may need to be adjusted to suit individual species and their habitats. As with other taxonomic groups, it has long been assumed that prescribed burns to create a mosaic of habitat patches of variable post-fire ages should help to retain mammal diversity within landscapes. However, studies do not necessarily bear this out in practice, and long-unburnt patches are likely to be of particular importance (Pastro et al., 2011). Patches of old-growth habitat with tree hollows on which many small mammals (and other taxa) depend are increasingly rare because of bushfires and compounded by timber harvesting, and such patches should be prioritised for protection in fire planning and in on-ground fire-fighting operations (Woinarski et al., 2023).

Common name	Scientific name	SA status (NPW Act 1972)	National status (EPBC Act 1999)
Kangaroo Island Dunnart	Sminthopsis aitkeni	Endangered	Endangered
Sandhill Dunnart	Sminthopsis psammophila	Vulnerable	Endangered
Southern Brown Bandicoot	Isoodon obesulus obesulus	Vulnerable	Endangered
Yellow-footed Rock-wallaby	Petrogale xanthopus xanthopus	Vulnerable	Vulnerable

Table 6: South Australian mammals with fire-management guidelines

The 2019–2020 bushfires necessitated emergency actions to sustain some populations of rare mammals, such as aerial food drops and erection of nest boxes and artificial hollows; treatment of injured animals for later re-release was largely restricted to koalas. Actions required in the aftermath of the fires included feral predator control in and around the fire scars, to minimise predation of surviving individuals (Woinarski et al., 2023).

Terrestrial invertebrates

Australia's invertebrates are megadiverse (>300,000 species) and understudied, but it is estimated that they have roughly 40 times the species diversity of vertebrates (Marsh et al., 2023). Aquatic invertebrates are considered below (see 5.4 *Aquatic ecosystems & fire*). Due to the diversity of invertebrates and the small numbers of researchers working on them, their ranges and conservation status are usually difficult to determine, and knowledge of their fire ecology is extremely limited (Saunders et al., 2021). However, impacts on invertebrates from large-scale bushfires are likely to have

wide-ranging effects throughout ecosystems because of the roles they play in ecosystem processes (Marsh et al., 2023).

A rare study of invertebrate communities in a habitat burnt frequently as part of a fire-hazard reduction experiment found marked changes in the relative abundances of different vertebrate groups. In the frequently-burnt landscape, abundance of ticks & mites decreased by 31%, insect larvae declined by 35%, flies decreased by 58%, and beetle abundance reduced by 31%, while bugs increased by 77%, ants by 250%, and spiders by 33%. The groups that declined were those primarily associated with the leaf litter, pointing to the likelihood that fuel-reduction burns that reduce leaf litter could have profound, and likely underappreciated, impacts on invertebrate biodiversity (Gill et al., 1999).

Most of the invertebrate species identified as priority species for conservation, following the 2019–2020 bushfires, were short-range endemics with a high percentage of their known range overlapping with fire extent; five species — including the endemic Kangaroo Island Assassin Spider — had their entire known range burnt, albeit with poor knowledge of distribution of most species (Legge et al., 2022). Few invertebrate species have threatened species status under Australian legislation, and because of these combined factors, area-based conservation approaches rather than species-based approaches may be the best strategy for the conservation of most invertebrates in the short term (Marsh et al., 2023).

5.4 Aquatic ecosystems and fire

Although bushfires are a land-based phenomenon, they can have profound but underappreciated impacts on freshwater and marine ecosystems. Effects can occur tens or hundreds of kilometres downstream or offshore, manifest with a significant time-lag, and may last for decades (Santori et al., 2023; Whiterod et al., 2023). Effects can include silting of water, nutrient fluxes resulting in algal blooms that in turn lead to deoxygenation of water, changes to water temperature and pH, and major changes to river substrate, for example changing from cobbles before a fire to gravel and silt afterwards (Whiterod et al., 2023).

Following the 2019-2020 fires, impacts on river systems were heightened by heavy rainfall which caused erosion in burnt catchments, leading to synchronous kills of fish and other aquatic life. This necessitated emergency conservation measures for some short-range species that were at imminent risk of extinction in Australia's eastern states. Sixteen species of freshwater fish and eight species of freshwater crayfish were captured, and either kept temporarily in captivity and later re-released into the wild, or translocated directly into unaffected rivers (Whiterod et al., 2023).

Such emergency actions may become necessary in South Australia under future climate change scenarios, which is expected to both increase bushfire risk and result in more intense heavy rainfall events (DEW, 2022).

Bushfires followed by heavy rainfall and flooding are expected to have similar impacts on estuarine and marine environments as they have had in river systems, but with possible additional impacts from the downstream accumulation of industrial chemicals, and fire retardants used in fire-fighting efforts (Santori et al., 2023).

5.5 Human fire management and effects on biodiversity

Indigenous fire-management practices are reviewed in section 0, but in summary, the controlled application of fire has been a force shaping Australian ecology for tens of thousands of years. The long-term effects of this for biodiversity are uncertain, and research into this is ongoing, but regardless, there

is likely to be an ongoing and increasing role for land management by Indigenous practitioners into the future. This is an explicit priority for biodiversity conservation under the Federal Government's Strategy for Nature 2019–2030 (Commonwealth of Australia, 2019).

Prescribed burning in some ways mimics Indigenous fire practices, in an attempt to reduce fuel loads (see section 0). Over time, patch-burning regimes have been refined to maintain a mosaic of vegetation of different post-fire ages. The adoption of patch-burning reflected the belief that 'pyrodiversity begets biodiversity' — that is, maintaining a patchwork of habitats with different fire histories within landscapes should by default support greater biodiversity, because vegetation is more variable in composition and structure, and that many species are fire-dependent while others are fire-sensitive (Jones & Tingley, 2022).

Empirical research testing the 'pyrodiversity begets biodiversity' hypothesis has shown that it does not necessarily hold true: biodiversity's responses to fire history varies by spatial and temporal scale, by species, by geography, and by biome (Jones & Tingley, 2022). Any fire creates heterogeneity within a landscape, and in the absence of data about which specific fire regimes (i.e., frequency, temperature, season, extent) can either benefit or harm local biodiversity, the assumption that 'pyrodiversity begets biodiversity' could be used to justify almost any prescribed burning regime (R. S. Taylor et al., 2012). Pastro et al. (2011) assessed the biodiversity effects of prescribed burns on plants, lizards, and mammals, and concluded that there was little difference between alpha and beta diversity between burnt and unburnt patches, and that there was no clear benefit to biodiversity from mosaic burning beyond creating fire breaks that would protect habitat.

Where knowledge exists about which burning regimes suit a particular vegetation community or species, particularly threatened ones, this knowledge should be applied when making decisions about fire management. There is a need to consider the effects of fire regimes on biodiversity at the landscape as well as the local scale: most fire-response studies focus on a single site and therefore only consider alpha-diversity, but the 'pyrodiversity begets biodiversity' hypothesis assumes that differences in species diversity between sites (beta-diversity) will automatically produce higher overall species diversity across the whole landscape (gamma-diversity) (Farnsworth et al., 2014).

In a direct test of the 'pyrodiversity begets biodiversity' hypothesis, a study in the south-eastern Australian mallee found that having a patchwork of vegetation with different fire-ages did not promote greater overall bird diversity across the landscape, but highlighted the key role of long-unburnt patches of vegetation in maintaining bird diversity (R. S. Taylor et al., 2012). Old stands of unburnt vegetation have also been identified as crucial for small mammals (Woinarski et al., 2023),and reptiles (Davis & Doherty, 2015). Maintaining some long-unburnt patches within landscapes may therefore be of greater importance to the persistence of some species than maintaining a patchwork of habitats with a variety of fire-ages.

5.6 Adaptation of future fire management regimes for biodiversity

Fire management regimes will need to change and be adapted into the future if they are to prevent catastrophic fires such as the 2019-2020 bushfires, while assisting native habitats and species to regenerate and persist. What fire regimes are appropriate in the future is likely to depend on which climate change scenario eventuates. A recent report on climate change projections for South Australia includes three global warming scenarios that could impact on biodiversity across the state (DEW, 2022).

• Climate change – see section on climate change, e.g., there are now fewer suitable days per year where prescribed burning, for ecological outcomes, can take place.

- Habitat modification that has changed habitats and the way they burn or recover e.g., habitat fragmentation, invasion by weeds and feral animals, absence of a lot of native fauna that has gone extinct either locally, regionally, or completely including many small digging mammals that probably reduced habitat flammability by digging in leaf litter and increasing soil's ability to hold moisture prior to European arrival.
- Use of fire retardants in aerial bombing operations to create containment lines ahead of a fire front contains nitrogen and phosphorous compounds that may disadvantage Australian native plants that are adapted to low-nutrient soils, and may promote the growth of weeds (DCCEEW, 2022); their use or composition may need to be carefully considered in some locations.

6. Climate change impacts on bushfires and biodiversity

6.1 Climate change impacts in the RH&C region

Climate change has and continues to impact communities, economies, health, and the natural environment, with changes expected to continue and intensify (Australian Academy of Science n.d). The Resilient Hills & Coasts partnership recognises the impact this will have in the region with warmer and drier weather and increased risk of bushfires, heatwaves, flooding and droughts (Resilient Hills & Coasts, 2020). Here, we provide an overview of the projected climatic change in South Australia and the RH&C region specifically, based on information provided in the Guide to Climate Projections for Risk Assessment and Planning in South Australia (DEW, 2022). This guide provides climate projections for 2030, 2050, and 2090 based on the Representative Concentration Pathways (RCPs) developed by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). Commonly referenced RCPs based on emissions scenarios include RCP2.6 (low emissions), RCP4.5 (intermediate), RCP6.0 (intermediate), and RCP8.5 (high emissions) to cover variability in global climate change action. Each climatic projection will be described for intermediate (RCP4.5) and high carbon emissions (RCP8.5) scenarios, and are compared with a 1986-2005 baseline (DEW, 2022).

Bushfire frequency and history in the RH&C region

The RH&C region was severely impacted by the 2019-2020 bushfires, in terms of scale, intensity and loss of homes, lives, and biodiversity. The area has a demonstrated fire history at different frequencies and these are presented as Figure 9, Figure 10, Figure 11 and Figure 12 and provided as an attachment (Attachment 1).





Figure 9: The fire frequency (includes bushfires and prescribed fires) in Kangaroo Island council region.



Fire History 1931 - 2022 Kangaroo Island

Figure 10: The fire history (includes bushfires and prescribed fires) in Kangaroo Island council region.



Fire Frequency 1931 - 2022 in Hills & Fleurieu LGAs

Figure 11: The fire frequency (includes bushfires and prescribed fires) in Yankalilla, Victor Harbour, Alexandrina, Adelaide Hills and Mount Barker council regions.



Fire History 1931 - 2022 in Hills & Fleurieu LGAs

Figure 12: The fire history (includes bushfires and prescribed fires) in Yankalilla, Victor Harbour, Alexandrina, Adelaide Hills and Mount Barker council regions.

Adelaide Hills and Fleurieu climate change

By 2050, there will be a projected increase in annual daily maximum temperature of 1.5°C in the Adelaide Hills and Fleurieu under RCP4.5, and an increase of 1.6°C under RCP8.5. Notably, looking at seasonal temperature changes, the warming during spring is projected to be the greatest rise with a daily maximum increase of 1.9°C at RCP4.5 and 1.7°C at RCP8.5. An increased number of extreme heat days with increased temperatures and an increased number of severe fire danger days is also projected. By 2090, most of the Adelaide Hills and Fleurieu, will see a projected increase in the number of severe fire danger days from 4.2 to 5.3 under RCP4.5, and 6.9 under RCP8.5. In areas that form part of the Murray Basin, the number of severe fire danger days is projected to shift from 3.6 to 5.3 under RCP4.5, and 5.9 under RCP8.5 by 2090.

Annual rainfall in the Adelaide Hills and Fleurieu region is projected to change by 4.1% at RCP4.5 and - 9.4% at RCP8.5 by 2050. Similar to the temperature change described above, the greatest difference will be during the spring season, with a projected rainfall change of -22.3% (RCP4.5) and -14.7% (RCP8.5). Increased intensity of extreme rainfall events is projected across the region.

Kangaroo Island climate change

It is projected that by 2050, there will be an increase in annual daily maximum temperature in the Kangaroo Island region. The projected increase is 1.4°C under RCP4.5, and 1.5°C under RCP8.5. Seasonally, spring is projected to be the season that with the greatest increase in warmth with increased daily maximum temperatures of 1.7°C at RCP4.5 and 1.6°C at RCP8.5. An increased number of extreme heat days is also projected for the Kangaroo Island region. By 2090, Kangaroo Island will experience a projected increase in severe fire danger days from the current baseline of 4.2 to 5.3 under RCP4.5, and 6.9 under RCP8.5.

In the Kangaroo Island region, annual rainfall by 2050 is projected to decrease, specifically by -5.8% under RCP4.5 and -10.0% under RCP8.5. The greatest decrease in seasonal rainfall is projected for the spring season, of -24.1% (RCP4.5) and -17.0% (RCP8.5). Increased intensity of extreme rainfall events is projected across the region.

How will climate change influence bushfires in the RH&C region?

Across the RH&C region, there is projected to be a general increase in maximum temperatures, extreme heat days, intensity of extreme rainfall events, and a decrease in rainfall (DEW, 2022). These conditions are likely to lead to increased frequency and severity of bushfires across the RH&C region. In support of these projections, long-term trends of increasing forest fire danger index (FFDI) values (note: the Australian Fire Danger Rating , that represents the level of threat, has replaced this) have also been observed (T. Penman et al., 2023). Similarly, it has been estimated that climate change has already increased the probability of extreme heat "by at least a factor of 2", therefore also increasing conditions ideal for bushfire (van Oldenborgh et al., 2021). This increased heat associated with climate change was suggested as one of the precursors of the devastating 2019-2020 bushfires across Australia (T. Penman et al., 2023).

In the context of the 2019-2020 bushfires, it has been emphasised that the extreme conditions were a result of anthropogenic climate change and natural climate variability. The climate drivers El Niño-Southern Oscillation (decreased rainfall and increased temperatures in El Niño phase in RH&C region, see <u>Bureau of Meteorology</u>), Indian Ocean Dipole (decreased chance of rainfall during the positive phase in RH&C region, see <u>Bureau of Meteorology</u>), and the Southern Annular Mode (decreased chance of rain in the negative phase during summer in RH&C region, see <u>Bureau of Meteorology</u>) may all

contribute to fire-promoting conditions across various parts of Australia (Abram et al., 2021). The Indian Ocean Dipole and Southern Annular Mode were strongly associated with the extreme conditions that were precursors to the 2019-2020 south-eastern bushfires (Abram et al., 2021). While these modes of climate variability are 'natural', Abram et al. (2021) note that these fire-promoting phases are "unusually frequent" compared with the historical record.

The combination of the fire-promoting phases of the Indian Ocean Dipole and Southern Annular Mode and the increasing temperatures, multiple heatwaves, flash drought, and intensification of droughts resulted in the catastrophic bushfire conditions during 2019 and 2020 (T. Penman et al., 2023). In South Australia, there were days that the FFDI exceeded 50 (> 50 = severe conditions, >100 = catastrophic) throughout November, December, and January (T. Penman et al., 2023). As highlighted previously, temperatures and the number of extreme heat days are predicted to increase, while rainfall is projected to decrease in the RH&C region (DEW, 2022).

There are multiple key variables that influence the danger rating of a bushfire including weather and vegetation type (see section 3. Understanding fires and bushfires). Although fire fuels do influence bushfire risk and severity, analysis of the fine fuels across New South Wales prior to the 2019-2020 fires, indicate that the fine fuel biomass was no greater than historical values (Nolan et al., 2021). The fine fuel dryness, however, was record breaking, and likely a larger influence of fire behaviour than the biomass of fine fuels (Nolan et al., 2021).

The significant influence of climate and weather on bushfire severity has been supported by numerous studies (Clarke et al., 2022; Price & Bradstock, 2012; A. P. Williams et al., 2019). Williams et al. (2019) looked at the impact of climate change on wildfires in the fire-prone state of California in North America where they observed a five-fold increase in areas burned annually between 1972 to 2018. In the less forested areas (or areas with more spare vegetation), higher than average annual rainfall created more fine fuel. This was followed by a swing to lower than average rainfall resulting in the drying of the accumulated fuels, promoting fire-prone conditions that resulted in more burned areas (A. P. Williams et al., 2019). Similarly, simulation model studies by Collins et al. (2013, 2015) and Jenkins et al. (2019) explored whether revegetation projects, in the southern and western regions of New South Wales, may increase the fire risk to assets. Collins et al. (2013) found that the probability of fire reaching an asset was dependent on the fire weather rather than the vegetation arrangement and patch size. Jenkins et al. (2019) also emphasised that fire intensity was not influenced by the planting size but by the weather, surrounding pasture loads (fine fuels), and suppression actions. Collins et al. (2013, 2015) highlighted that revegetation arrangement or increased biomass does not unequivocally increase fire size or severity, rather it is significantly influenced by weather.

Further, Clarke et al. (2022) simulated the effectiveness of various prescribed burn treatments under 2019-2020 bushfire season conditions. While prescribed burns did reduce the risk of bushfire, "the effect size was typically dwarfed by the effect of extreme weather conditions" (Clarke et al., 2022). Statistical modelling by Price and Bradstock (2012) also indicated that weather was the most substantial predictor of bushfire severity, particularly under severe or catastrophic conditions. It is also emphasised in these studies that the frequency of weather conditions conducive to bushfire will increase with climate change (Clarke et al., 2022; Price & Bradstock, 2012).

6.2 How will climate change impact biodiversity in the RH&C region?

Worldwide, the impact that climate change may have on biodiversity is being extensively researched. Many of these impacts are also likely to be observed within the RH&C region due to the projected warming and decreased rainfall under various scenarios (DEW, 2022).

One of the most well-known impacts of climate change is the increased frequency and severity of extreme events such as bushfires. As explored in the previous section 'Fire and Biodiversity', inappropriate fire regimes can severely impact biodiversity. Currently, it is estimated that 296 threatened or endangered vascular plants and 88% of threatened mammal species across Australia are at risk of extinction due to current fire management regimes (Santos et al., 2022; Silcock & Fensham, 2018). It is also consistently agreed that Australia, and the RH&C region, will experience increased temperatures, number of extreme heat days, and drier conditions (Canadell et al., 2021; DEW, 2022; T. Penman et al., 2023). These long-term climate trends and extreme weather forecasts create high bushfire risk conditions at an increasing frequency and severity. While modern anthropogenic fire management can contribute to inappropriate fire regimes, the "most consistent cause for shifting fire regimes is the effect of global climatic change" (Legge, Rumpff, et al., 2023). For further information on how altered fire regimes can adversely affect biodiversity, see section 5 'Fire and Biodiversity'.

Some (but not all) of the ways that biodiversity will be affected by climate change include (Butt et al., 2021; Nunez et al., 2019).

- Range shifts a distributional shift of where a species occurs.
- Changes to morphology this can affect a species ability to thermoregulate, genetic fitness and population dynamics.
- Phenological changes the life cycle of a plant or animal and its interaction with seasons or other abiotic factors.
- Dieback and disease in vegetation communities the gradual deterioration in plant health, sometimes resulting in plant mortality, can be caused by diseases and pathogens.

Figure 13 is an overview of the potential climate change impacts and their possible effects on species. This is highly dependent on the location and the species present but provides a useful starting point in considering how climate change may impact the species in a particular focus area, like the RH&C region.



Figure 13: Predicted impacts of climate change and the effects on species as developed by Vie et al. (2009) for the International Union for Conservation of Nature.

Range shifts/reorganization of species assemblages

Observed globally, is the pattern of species distribution shifting towards the north and south poles, to higher altitudes, and deeper into the ocean (Scheffers & Pecl, 2019). While this literature review did not find explicit examples of a species distribution shifts in the RH&C region, range shifts have been documented in other parts of Australia. For example, in the Wet Tropics World Heritage Area (North Queensland), population declines and range shifts were observed in bird species (Williams & de la Fuente, 2021). The local abundance of mid and high elevation bird species had decreased at the lower limit of their distribution, while the low elevation bird species had moved into higher elevations of the montane rainforest in the Wet Tropics World Heritage Area (Williams & de la Fuente, 2021). Similarly, ocean warming resulted in the contracted range of temperate kelp forests off the coast of south-west Australia by a distance of 100 km, replacing them with seaweeds and other species associated with subtropical and tropical habitats (Wernberg et al., 2016). Lastly, the extinction of the Bramble Cay melomys (Melomys rubicola) was the first recorded extinction of an Australian mammal due to anthropogenic climate change (Fulton, 2017). The Bramble Cay melomys was found on a small, vegetated area of the Bramble Cay in the Torres Strait. Increased salt water inundation due to sea level rise and increased storm activity, was associated with a reduction in vegetation on the cay that supported this species (Fulton, 2017). The loss of vegetation is believed to be the most likely cause for the loss of the Bramble Cay melomys as it had previously only been detected in the vegetated portion of the cay (Fulton, 2017).

As highlighted by Wernberg et al. (2016) and Williams & de la Fuente (2021), range shifts may result in the reorganization of species assemblages. The migration of species in response to climate change (whether this be change of temperature, rainfall, migration of food source) means that species are adapting (Butt et al., 2021; Scheffers & Pecl, 2019). However, this reorganisation may change ecosystem dynamics such as predation or competition with historically extant species (Scheffers & Pecl, 2019). Additionally, while some species can migrate rapidly enough to cope with the impacts of climate change, many species may not be able to. It has been highlighted that under a 3 to 4°C warming scenario, the area suitable for plants will be reduced by approximately 53%, and that temperate forests and shrublands (a substantial proportion of vegetation in the RH&C region) will experience the largest reductions in the species remaining (Nunez et al., 2019). Fragmented environments, long reproductive cycles, and the inability to move (e.g.,, plants) are key factors that may inhibit the migration and adaptation of species to climate change (Butt et al., 2021). Species that are not able to migrate may experience population decline due to unfavourable climatic conditions, migration of other species (food sources and pollinators), and increased predation, competition or disease from species that have migrated (Ong et al., 2021; Vié et al., 2009).

Changing morphology

In addition to shifting or reducing a species range, it is suggested that climate change may also alter the morphology of species often through exposure to changing temperatures or altered food quality (Gardner et al., 2014). Morphology changes have already been observed in a number of bird species showing linear body size changes (Chambers et al., 2005; Gardner et al., 2014; Hoffmann et al., 2019). Within an Australian context, 24 passerine bird species were examined for changes in body size (specimens from 1960 to 2007), with 38% showing linear declines in body size, and 21% showing linear increases in body size (Gardner et al., 2014). The linear changes in passerine body size was consistent with studies on other continents and the observed climate changes (Gardner et al., 2014). Many of the birds that showed size changes in this study are present in the RH&C region such as the eastern spinebill (*Acanthorhynchus tenuirostris*), variegated fairy-wren (*Malurus lamberti*), brown treecreeper

(*Climacteris picumnus*), and the singing honeyeater (*Gavicalis virescens*) (Gardner et al., 2014). Changes in body size may have implications for thermal biology such as energy and water requirements, and life history traits (i.e., reproduction), that may directly or indirectly impact individual fitness (Gardner et al., 2014). As this study only assessed 24 bird species, further research and monitoring is required to better understand past and current species morphology, and how climate change may impact individual species fitness and biodiversity resilience.

Phenological changes

Phenological changes are alterations to processes associated with the plant and animal life cycles and their interaction with seasons or other factors (Forrest, 2016). Worldwide, changes to species phenology are some of the most well-studied aspects of climate change impacts. The early blooming of spring flowers and the early flight of migratory birds and butterflies are a few well-known examples of changing phenology in response to climate change (Forrest, 2016). While these phenological shifts may indicate adaptation to climate change (similar to range shifts), this can also cause a "de-coupling" of ecological processes when there are unequal phenological changes between trophic levels and interdependent species (Both et al., 2009; Forrest, 2016). For example, the eastern donkey orchid (Diuris orientis), an orchid native to the RH&C region, has been observed to have an increasingly earlier flowering time (Hoffmann et al., 2019; MacGillivray et al., 2010). The eastern donkey orchid flowers in the spring, but data records spanning 98 years (1897-2005) show the flowering time to be shifting earlier (flowering closer to the winter solstice) one to two days per decade (MacGillivray et al., 2010). Donkey orchid species mimic the appearance of native pea species (Mirbelioids) to lure bees into pollinating the orchid and is therefore dependent on having coupled/simultaneous flowering times (Hoffmann et al., 2019). As there has been altered flowering times observed for the eastern donkey orchid, it is possible that the flowering may be de-coupled from native pea flowering times, risking the success of reproduction. Although the eastern donkey orchid is a widespread species, the RH&C region is also home to many vulnerable and endangered species with restricted ranges (see Kangaroo Island species list and Adelaide & Mount Lofty Ranges species list). It is therefore, crucial to identify species at risk, understand the potential stressors and responses, and mitigate these impacts.

Dieback and disease in vegetation communities

In addition to range shifts, and phenological and morphological changes in species, climate change may also cause dieback in vegetation communities. Dieback has been seen in vegetation communities around the world (Gomes et al., 2021), including in the mangrove communities of the Gulf of Carpentaria (Northern Territory) (Duke et al., 2021). More relevant to the RH&C region, however, are the observed diebacks in eucalypt forests around Australia. For example, tree crown dieback was observed in Northern Jarrah Forest of Western Australia in 2011 following extreme heat and reduced rainfall between 2010-2011 (Brouwers et al., 2013). In 2010/11, the region recorded a reduced average rainfall of 484-515mm compared to 946-998mm average annual rainfall for the previous 30 years (Brouwers et al., 2013).

Similarly, average maximum temperatures were 4.6% higher than average during 2010/11 (Brouwers et al., 2013). This was associated with the crown dieback of 236 patches of eucalypt forest between 0.3 and 85.7 ha in size (Matusick et al., 2013). Similarly, dieback of *Eucalyptus moluccana* in the Cumberland Plain Woodlands of Western Sydney has been associated with climatic changes and an outbreak of psyllids (parasitic invertebrates) (Hoffmann et al., 2019). While there was not only a single factor associated with the psyllid outbreak, higher average winter temperatures were suggested to have contributed to the disruption of "psyllid-parasitoid synchrony" (Hoffmann et al., 2019). This example of eucalypt crown dieback highlights the complex relationship between ecosystems and climate change.

Further, dieback of vegetation may contribute to increased fine fuel loads (and therefore bushfire risk), altered ecosystem functioning/dynamics, and potential decline or loss of species (Hoffmann et al., 2019).

6.3 Strategies for biodiversity resilience in context of climate change

Climate change is formally recognised under the EPBC Act as a factor causing habitat loss. It is named as a Key Threatening Process; "Loss of terrestrial climatic habitat caused by anthropogenic emissions of greenhouse gases". This Key Threatening Process has not been addressed via a national Threat Abatement Plan, as the Threatened Species Scientific Committee (TSSC) determined that sufficient actions to address greenhouse gas emissions were already underway by the Commonwealth, State and Territory governments to abate greenhouse gas emissions, and so further abatement actions would not be an efficient way to address climate change. The TSSC recommended instead that greater priority be given to actions promoting the adaptation of species and communities likely to be affected by climate change (DCCEEW, n.d.-a).

Strategies to ensure biodiversity resilience in the context of climate change are therefore likely to fall into two strategies, those that are species-focused, and those that are habitat- or area-focused. Individual threatened species may require recovery plans that address factors such as projected climatic shifts, their thermal and rainfall tolerances, keystone resources that may change in availability, seasonal movements, area of occupancy, and genetic diversity. Habitat- or area-focused strategies are a bigger-picture approach to conserving regional biodiversity that focus less on individual species and more on ecosystems. Increased threat from bushfires (e.g., (Abram et al., 2021) is one aspect of climate change that may need to be addressed via either kind of strategy.

Habitat continuity

In the context of climate change, resilience of species and ecosystems will rely on their ability to adapt to altered conditions, or their ability to adjust their geographical ranges to remain within a tolerable climate envelope. Unassisted adaptation of species to new conditions relies upon them retaining sufficient genetic diversity so individuals can survive and reproduce *in situ* as climate changes (Sgrò et al., 2011), while range shifts rely upon the ability of species to move freely through the landscape, which in highly cleared and fragmented landscapes may be difficult (Beier, 2012; Nuñez et al., 2013). One of the explicit objectives of the Federal Government's *Strategy for Nature* (*Objective 7: Reduce threats and risks to nature and build resilience*) is the 'retention, protection and/or restoration of landscape-scale, native vegetation corridors' (DCCEEW, 2022a). Maintaining or enhancing continuity between native habitat patches at any scale should ultimately contribute towards ease of movement of native species at a landscape scale and may help provide a buffer against climate change.

Translocations

Where habitat continuity is not possible, or not possible quickly enough, species translocations may be a feasible option, although proper planning is needed to ensure that source populations are not harmed and that released populations will be viable (IUCN/SSC, 2013). Short-range endemic species with small populations are particularly at risk of extinction, and may require active intervention such as translocation (Gallagher et al., 2023; Legge, Rumpff, et al., 2023; Whiterod et al., 2023), preferably preemptively and not as an emergency response (Butt et al., 2021).

A recent example from South Australia of pre-emptive assisted colonisation for a species threatened by increased temperatures and aridity due to climate change, and which would be unable to disperse naturally, was the translocation of 600 endangered Purple-spotted Gudgeon fish (*Mogurnda clivicola*),

from two springs in the Gammon Ranges to permanent springs 120 km further south in the Flinders Ranges (Landscape SA, 2021). Translocations of threatened species are generally expensive and there is a high risk of failure, and should be undertaken when other conservation strategies are not possible (IUCN/SSC, 2013).

The concept of using locally-adapted, locally-sourced plants or animals for revegetation or translocation projects was accepted as best practice until relatively recently, it is becoming increasingly recognised that deliberate strategies to introduce genetic material from more distant locations (e.g., those that experience hotter/drier conditions) may be required to pre-empt climate change and ensure future persistence of populations (Hoffmann et al., 2021).

Maximising population sizes & extent

Maximising the population size of native species within their current ranges is another strategy to give populations the best chance of resilience to events such as bushfires. For example, measures such as feral predator control will allow populations of native small mammals to expand, which could provide a buffer for populations to recover after impacts such as bushfires (J. Woinarski, Cripps, et al., 2023).

Maximising the population size of native species is not an explicit goal of the Federal Government's *Strategy for Nature* (DCCEEW, 2022a), but is consistent with Objective 6 of the strategy (*Maximise the number of species secured in nature*), which is to be achieved via 'the protection and restoration of native habitats, mitigation of threats, management of risks to environments and management of environments and their species'.

Existing conservation strategies

Conservation strategies that consider the context of climate change already exist for many key taxon groups, including for species that are not classed as threatened. These resources may currently be under-utilised, e.g., the *Action Plan for Australian Birds 2020* (Garnett & Baker, 2021), the *Action Plan for Australian Mammals 2012* (J. Woinarski et al., 2014), the *Action Plan for Australian Lizards and Snakes 2017* (Chapple, 2019), and the *Action Plan for Australia's Imperilled Plants* (Silcock et al., 2021). These publications provide actions expert guidance on recovery actions, including locally relevant information to the RH&C region, e.g., Kangaroo Island birds that were affected by the 2019-2020 bushfires (Garnett & Baker, 2021).

Legislated recovery plans are also in place for some threatened taxa at the national level. Examples of different kinds of national-level recovery plans include: plans for individual species (e.g., Painted Snipe *Rostratula australis*); plans that cover multiple related species with similar conservation needs (e.g., eight species of *Epacris* heaths in Tasmania); and regional or landscape-scale plans that address similar threats to multiple unrelated species within a geographic location (e.g., eleven species of unrelated threatened plants via the *Fitzgerald Biosphere Recovery Plan*; and nine threatened species including taxa as diverse as plants, terrestrial birds, seabirds and invertebrates via the *Lord Howe Island Biodiversity Management Plan*) (DCCEEW, n.d.-b).

As climate change is a cross-species threat, it may be worth pursuing more multi-taxon recovery plans that aim to simultaneously improve the conservation status of multiple threatened species, as well as providing benefits to species not currently listed as threatened. Area-based plans may be of particular benefit for conserving hyperdiverse, poorly-studied taxon groups, such as invertebrates, of which few are listed as threatened and little is known regarding their geographical distribution or population trajectories (Marsh et al., 2023).

7. Community resilience to future bushfires and biodiversity loss

Resilience can be broadly defined as "the ability of a social or ecological system to absorb disturbances while retaining the same basic structure and ways of functioning, the capacity for self-organisation, and the capacity to adapt to stress and change" (IPCC 2007 via (Pyke et al., 2018). In the context of disaster resilience, it has been defined as the "ability of a system, community, or society exposed to hazards to resist, absorb, accommodate, and recover from the effects of a hazard in a timely and efficient manner" (UN International Strategy via (Pyke et al., 2018). Resilience may also be focused on a particular aspect of a community such as its economic resilience.

Vulnerability is often assessed in tandem with resilience in the context of shocks and stressors. Vulnerability is defined by Pyke et al. (2018) as the degree to which a unit (households, communities, etc.) is exposed to shocks or stressors.

Shocks are considered impacts that are immediate (i.e., the immediate threat to life that a bushfire close to people poses). Stressors, however, are slow onset impacts. For example, the case study presented on the town of Harrietville NE Victoria, Australia, listed stressors as misleading and sensationalised news coverage of the fires (the shock) and extended fire seasons caused by climate change (Pyke et al., 2018).

The importance of supporting and building community resilience

Resilience is crucial for communities to withstand and persevere after disasters or other impacts. Vulnerability and resilience can be addressed not only in response to impacts but in anticipation. Building resilience may involve reducing vulnerability or improving coping mechanisms to shocks and stressors (Every et al., 2019). For example, ensuring appropriate fire breaks are in place around properties is a way of reducing vulnerability (Gurtner, 2022), while improving emergency communication systems may improve coping mechanisms (Every et al., 2019; Howard et al., 2018). Both approaches improve the resilience of a community.

Under climate change, more frequent and/or severe weather events (i.e., bushfires, droughts, and floods) are predicted for Australia (T. Penman et al., 2023). Therefore, improving the capacity of communities to cope with the impact of shocks and stressors is vital.

The strain of increasingly severe fire seasons on emergency response workforce

Emergency management staff (e.g., fire fighters) will also be placed under increasing workloads and pressure in a changing climate (T. Penman et al., 2023). The Royal Commission into National Natural Disaster Arrangements report identified multiple strains on the emergency response capability during the 2019-2020 Summer bushfires (Commonwealth of Australia, 2020). It was highlighted that there was a lack of skilled or qualified personnel available when requested and states, including Victoria, reported a "strain on the capacity and capabilities of fire and emergency services" during the 2019-2020 bushfires (Commonwealth of Australia, 2020). The degree of resource sharing at a national and international level during disaster time was emphasised as crucial for maintaining capacity in emergency situations. For example, the involvement of Australian firefighters in the United States and vice a versa is an integral part of the emergency response to fires (Commonwealth of Australia, 2020). This resource sharing may be compromised with greater overlap of fire seasons due to climate change, resulting in the need to consider the development of short-term operational capability and strategic long-term capability (Commonwealth of Australia, 2020). In addition, it has been highlighted repeatedly

that the volunteer workforce constitutes a large proportion of the emergency services workforce in Australia (Commonwealth of Australia, 2020; Huynh et al., 2013; Lantz & Runefors, 2021; E. Smith et al., 2022). Reportedly, volunteers make up 90% of the firefighting and emergency services workforce in Australia, and 78% of responders in the 2019-2020 bushfires were volunteers (Commonwealth of Australia, 2020). Planning for increased frequency and severity of bushfires around Australia is crucial not only to improve capacity and alleviate strain on the emergency response workforce, but also to mitigate impacts on the physical and mental health of workers.

Physical and mental health impacts of natural disasters on emergency response staff and communities

The physical and mental health impacts of bushfires is faced by firefighters and communities. Firefighters and other emergency response staff experience a range of physical health impacts. These include: physical strain and exertion (e.g., from lifting /moving equipment or debris); exposure to high temperatures and smoke; and lack of sleep (Fullagar et al., 2021; Hunt et al., 2019; Phillips et al., 2012). The combination of the physical activity associated with firefighting and lack of sleep has been associated with increased cortisol and other heat-related illnesses (Fullagar et al., 2021; Wolkow et al., 2016). This aligns with the noted prevalence of cardiovascular disease in firefighting populations and that "sudden cardiac death accounts for almost half of all firefighter duty-related fatalities" (Fullagar et al., 2021). Greater exposure to fire conditions and the occurrence of lack of sleep or rest time, is likely under more frequent and severe fire conditions, therefore resulting in increased risk to the physical health of firefighters.

Similarly, experiencing bushfires or other natural disasters can have short and long-term mental health impacts on firefighters and communities. A study that interviewed 58 volunteer fire fighters involved in the 2019-2020 bushfires reported that all individuals reported an impact on their mental well-being (E. Smith et al., 2022). More serious impacts were associated with repeated exposure to traumatic events and little recovery time between fire events and return to work (E. Smith et al., 2022). Similar patterns have been reported in wider communities where long-term mental health impacts are linked with rebuilding and repeated experience of traumatic events (Commonwealth of Australia, 2020). The mental health impacts (including depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress disorder, etc.) of bushfires on firefighters and communities have been reported up to 5 years after an event (Commonwealth of Australia, 2020; E. Smith et al., 2022). To support the mental well-being of firefighters and communities, support needs to be active and reactive, to empower local leaders, and must be community-driven (E. Smith et al., 2022).

What are the barriers to community resilience?

The barriers to community resilience are many and diverse. The specific barriers to resilience may be dependent on the location of a township or community, on the governance systems in place, and on a range of other socio-economic factors. Ensuring adequate understanding of the barriers to resilience will require case-by-case investigation.

Many studies have highlighted the variable levels of disaster preparedness that may be present in individual households and communities in Australia (Boon H, 2014; Every et al., 2019; Howard et al., 2018; Nicolopoulos N & Hansen E, 2009). For example, Every et al. (2019) reported that previous and/or personal experience of a bushfire, training or experience in emergency services, and information awareness, was a strong predictor of preparedness, both psychological (ability to prepare for the mental impacts of disasters) and material/physical (e.g., maintenance of defendable space, preparation of emergency kits, etc.). This aligns with research by Howard et al. (2018) who indicated a positive

association between the amount of time people had lived in the area with their level of preparedness and understanding of risks and appropriate response actions. The psychological and physical preparedness of individuals and communities may also be substantially affected by socio-economic factors. Any form of social isolation can impact the psychological and physical preparedness and coping abilities of individuals and communities. Demographic groups such as low-income, unemployed, and homeless are less likely to be able to access emergency communications and engage in preparation activities (Every et al., 2019; Howard et al., 2018). Similarly, older residents or those with physical disabilities may have less physical capacity to undertake preparation activities and have difficulties evacuating (Howard et al., 2018). It should also be emphasised that there is significant intersectionality of these population groups and the difficulties presented regarding disaster preparation and resilience (Howard et al., 2018). Culturally and linguistically diverse people face another set of barriers to resilience. Language barriers may contribute to social isolation and difficulty accessing and understanding disaster and bushfire information (Howard et al., 2018; Nicolopoulos N & Hansen E, 2009). Nicolopoulous and Hansen (Nicolopoulos N & Hansen E, 2009) found that fluency in English was associated with the implementation of safety precautions. Similarly, Nepal et al. (2012) identified that culturally and/or linguistically diverse groups were more dependent on word-of-mouth information. This could mean that these groups are not always getting the information required to be prepared and resilient to bushfires.

The literature repeatedly highlights that having strong community connections and social support is a significant contributor to individual, household, and community resilience (Berke et al., 2010; Howard et al., 2018; Maru et al., 2014; Redshaw et al., 2017; Timalsina & Songwathana, 2020), therefore, building community connections and tailored outreach are two broad strategies to tackle these barriers to resilience.

How bushfire preparation can build resilient communities

In the context of bushfires, community resilience is dependent on both physical and psychological preparedness. Physical preparedness for a household may include bushfire preparation activities (e.g., maintaining defendable space, availability of independent water sources, upgrading infrastructure to fire-wise materials), the material resources needed to evacuate (i.e., transportation), or the capacity to stay and defend (Every et al., 2019; Howard et al., 2018). Psychological preparedness may also be influenced by a range of factors such as "bushfire knowledge, coping self-efficacy, proactive coping, dispositional optimism, locus of control, social support, demographic/situation factors, lived experience" (Every et al., 2019), and "self-evacuation archetypes" (Strahan et al., 2018). Additionally, Every et al. (2019) highlight that greater levels of psychological preparedness have been associated with greater material or physical preparedness. To improve overall bushfire preparation in communities, psychological, material, and physical preparedness are all required.

While psychological and physical preparation does not prevent bushfires or prevent the exposure to bushfires, it can contribute to a reduced risk of exposure and greater capacity to recover physically and emotionally from the impacts of a bushfire.

How can community resilience be supported?

There are several approaches for supporting individual and community resilience. These may include governance and policy decisions or community-based initiatives (Pooley et al., 2010). Pooley et al. (Pooley et al., 2010) identified five key themes from discussions with residents in a bushfire affected community in the semi-rural community of Darlington, east of Perth, Western Australia. The five themes that residents indicated were crucial in improving their community resilience were: 1) a sense

of community, 2) social networks and social support, 3) the number of coping strategies in place, 4) the level of self-efficacy, and 5) the level of community competence. Similarly, community-led approaches, and community sector engagement programs are repeatedly emphasised as crucial in improving community resilience (Berke et al., 2010; Maru et al., 2014; Nepal et al., 2012; Redshaw et al., 2017). Redshaw et al. (Redshaw et al., 2017) reported an increase in house preparation, in obtaining neighbours' contact details, and practicing emergency bushfire plans following the "Meet Your Street" and "More than a Fire Plan" programs. Maru et al. (2014) and Berke et al. (2010) also reported strong engagement of the community in the community-led approaches.

In supporting community resilience, however, a better understanding of who is in a community is needed. For example, investigating who the vulnerable population groups are, what their specific barriers are, and what they need will be crucial to supporting household and community resilience (Berke et al., 2010; Every et al., 2019; Howard et al., 2018; Nicolopoulos & Hansen, 2009; Strahan et al., 2018). The strategies to support vulnerable groups may include equipping social and support workers with the right information (Howard et al., 2018) and developing targeted outreach programs (e.g., for specific cultural groups, for older people, etc.) (Berke et al., 2010).

The town of Harrietville, Victoria Australia, was the subject of a case study by Pyke et al. (Pyke et al., 2018) using a vulnerability and resilience assessment. The region is vulnerable to bushfires and has experienced four bushfire events from 2003 to 2018. The town is heavily dependent on tourism for its income and is a frequent thoroughfare for tourists to other destinations. While the economy was a heavy focus of the assessment, general resilience was also observed. Pyke et al. (Pyke et al., 2018) suggest that Harrietville shows the capability for resilience to bushfires and other extreme weather events due to three main factors: 1) the tourism system (low seasonality, year-round tourists), 2) community resources and governance arrangements, and 3) engagement and trust in emergency response processes and agencies. The community is described as having strong connections, resources, and a clear idea of actions that need to be taken during and in between crises.

In central Australia, a remote First Nations community has been engaging in initiatives and actions for climate change adaptation pathways (Maru et al., 2014). Maru et al. (Maru et al., 2014) reported that there was strong community support for a collaborative approach between First Nations people, pastoral, and conservation land managers, and that this collaboration had been developed over the last 20 years. The integration of Western and First Nations fire management practices had "lead to greater preparedness and responsiveness" and an increase in "desirable aspects of resilience" (Maru et al., 2014). This community was aiming to address the potential impacts of more fire directly on the people in their community, on environmental assets, and on traditional and modern livelihood opportunities (Maru et al., 2014). This highlights the ability to have multiple priorities in resilience and fire management.

To ensure long-term sustainability and impact, initiatives should be community-driven but supported by organisations and governments. This includes the development of appropriate policy, economic strategies, and climate change mitigation and adaptation pathways.

How we need community to build biodiversity resilience (can we get people to be ok with it)

Biodiversity resilience is important to prioritise as it can contribute to general human well-being (Romanelli et al., 2015) and climate change mitigation (Cook-Patton et al., 2021). Building biodiversity resilience, however, requires substantial collaboration across organisations and groups, as well as support from the community as this requires actions on public and private lands. Multiple areas for improvement have been identified by de Bie et al. (de Bie et al., 2023) such as the need for 1) actions

to increase biodiversity resilience prior to bushfires, 2) further development of emergency plans for biodiversity prior to bushfires, 3) increased accessibility to biodiversity data, 4) the integration of biodiversity agency representation in emergency management, 5) and increased community engagement. Some examples of communities supporting biodiversity resilience include the translocation and cultivation of the endangered Coveny's Zieria (*Zieria covenyi*) prior to the 2019-20 bushfires and community advocacy to undertake fire mitigation measure to protect the Wollemi pine (*Wollemi nobilis*) (de Bie et al., 2021).

While, de Bie et al. (2021) highlights that many members of the community do value biodiversity and support balanced priorities, some still view vegetation inherently as a fire risk (Moskwa et al., 2016) and do not prioritise biodiversity assets. For example, one interviewee noted the conflict between protection of biodiversity versus protection of built assets, decision during the 2019-2020 bushfires, when a decision was made to direct a back burn towards a national park (burning 5000ha) to save a "small number of sheds" (de Bie et al., 2023). Changing the narrative to "consider the equivalency of value of some natural values compared to property" will require clear community support that could be underpinned by clear metrics (de Bie et al., 2023).

8. Bushfire preparation and biodiversity conservation - learnings from select 2019-2020 bushfire reviews.

Following the 2009 'Black Saturday' bushfires in Victoria, research revealed that planning and preparedness was inadequate amongst the people affected (Whittaker et al., 2013). The devastating 2019-2020 bushfires burned 19 million hectares in Australia and sparked numerous inquiries, reviews, and research papers. Immediately after the bushfires, a round table of leading scientists and bushfire experts agreed that collaboration between organisations and scientific communications needed to improve. The group also concluded that "research and technology collaboration efforts should include businesses, volunteers, first responder organisations and different levels of government to ensure new products, services, processes and practices are delivered to where they are needed" and there was a need for industry involvement in "mitigation and adaptation solutions" (Andrews MP 2020).

A summary of the round table discussion to the public was produced '2019-20 bushfires: a CSIRO explainer' and attributed the 2019-2020 bushfires to increased frequency of fire weather (record low rainfall, record high temperatures), drought conditions (contributing to fuel aridity) and mentions the impacts of climate change and the need for fire preparation measures (fuel management, ignition prevention and fire suppression tools) (CSIRO, 2020b). A review of the document for this literature review, noted that it does not mention biodiversity conservation.

The Royal Commission in Natural Disaster Arrangements was established in February 2020, and funding was allocated to the Bushfire and Natural Hazards CRC to undertake a research program called 'Black Summer' (Natural Hazards Research Australia, 2023). The Bushfire and Natural Hazards CRC produced a summary document outlining the findings from their research program, which breaks up the research findings over four main themes; Fire Predictive Services, Cultural Land Management, Community-Centred Disaster Risk Reduction, Bushfire Data and Reconstruction. Although this document is a summary of findings and does not include all content from the research projects, it was noted that, biodiversity was only mentioned three times, and only in the context of "people, property and biodiversity". The acknowledgement of climate change was only mentioned four times.

In 2023, a new publication "Australia's Megafires" (Legge et al., 2022) specifically addresses the "concerns shown by so many Australians about the impact these wildfires had on our nature". The research and findings summarise how the bushfires affected cultural values, ecological processes and communities and a range of taxa and lessons about biodiversity management, shared responsibility, and data and monitoring.

This section of the literature review summarises some of the key findings from these recent publications, that are relevant to RH&C Bushfire and Biodiversity project.

Bushfire preparation/mitigation

• Improved bushfire risk prediction is needed for better bushfire preparation, with multiple 'Black Summer' research projects focussing on increasing the ability to predict fire risk and fire behaviour. It was suggested that 'fire behaviour analysts' will play an important role in future bushfire planning and response and that predictive services (including 'fire behaviour analysts') should be better integrated in emergency management beyond state control centres, and interact more with users/practitioners (Natural Hazards Research Australia, 2023).

- Although super-computer simulations help predict fire behaviour, the extreme fire behaviour of the 2019-2020 bushfires were not identified by existing models. Analysis of the ACCESS (Australian Community Climate and Earth-System Simulator) Fire Model after the 2019-2020 bushfires demonstrated the usefulness of such models in understanding extreme fire behaviour and integrating this knowledge into bushfire management operations, but with current technology, these models do not run in real time. The ACCESS-Fire Model assisted researchers to understand the extreme fire behaviour witnessed in the 2019-2020 bushfires, and provides an opportunity for development of real-time (coupled) capability in the future (Natural Hazards Research Australia, 2023).
- Another project furthered the understanding of soil and fuel moisture levels relating to fire risk. The Australian National University research built on this work to demonstrate the feasibility of dead fine fuel moisture hourly at a 5 km resolution over the whole continent of Australia (Natural Hazards Research Australia, 2023). This research will lead to improved fire danger predictions, using observed and modelled soil and fuel moisture forecasts to inform fire risk predictions.
- The effectiveness of prescribed burning in bushfire mitigation varies considerably and depends on the risk bring mitigated (e.g., asset loss, human life loss, etc) and the specific landscape properties such as vegetation type and population (Clarke et al., 2021). Research conducted by the University of Wollongong suggests that although the 2019-2020 bushfire season was determined by preceding weather conditions, the previous fire history (eg prescribed burns) influenced the severity of the 2019-2020 bushfire within some areas of New South Wales (Natural Hazards Research Australia, 2023). Similarly, the effectiveness of prescribed burning on Kangaroo Island, South Australia, was investigated using a large-scale fire behaviour simulation and it was concluded that there was a relationship of higher rates of prescribed burning resulting in less area burnt by bushfire (Natural Hazards Research Australia, 2023). Another research project that focussed on Kangaroo Island, used three fire simulation models to identify the prescribed burning and bushfire relationship and summarised that although prescribed burning can reduce the frequency and intensity of wildfires, "ultimately the levels of burning required to achieve this result are on a greater area of the landscape burned overall" (Natural Hazards Research Australia, 2023). This issue of scale was also summarised by Price (2023) who researched the effectiveness of prescribed burning in southern Australian forests. It was suggested that prescribed burning reduced "wildfire" modestly with a ratio of 3:1, that being three hectares of prescribed burn will reduce the area burnt by a wildfire by one hectare. It was also noted that this is "impractical and detrimental to biodiversity".
- Community that has previous experience of bushfire are more motivated to plan and prepare, but research has shown that community expectations of bushfire risk information are growing. In a review of the 2019-2020 bushfires in NSW, research found that many people in the community expected detailed and near real-time local bushfire information, which they did not necessarily receive due to bushfire communication disruptions (Whittaker et al., 2021). Whittaker et al. (2021) concluded that community preparedness is complex and that "bushfire risk reduction is a shared responsibility between governments, fire and emergency services, businesses and communities at risk".
- Minimising the risk and potential damage of bushfires through better preparedness was highlighted by CSIRO (2020). It was also acknowledged that in " the medium to longer term,

the way we live and organise our communities, and how and where we build our houses also play an important part in how we prepare and respond to bushfire threats" (CSIRO, 2020b).

Biodiversity resilience and protection

- To mitigate against future extinctions, and the impacts by future bushfires and climate change, species should be prioritised for conservation management that integrates in situ and ex situ strategies (Biggs et al., 2023). The 2019-2020 bushfires reinforced the need and value of ex-situ conservation as a long term strategy to protect priority flora and fauna species (Biggs et al., 2023).
- The publication "What did we learn about biodiversity management, policy and operations from the 2019-20 wildfires" (2023) provided interview feedback about protection of conservation assets that are exposed to wildfires (de Bie et al., 2023). Some key information from this research included a) conservation assets were more likely to be protected if they were mapped and biodiversity representatives were embedded into incident management teams, b) the lack of information and prioritisation of conservation assets reduced the ability to protect these species during the bushfire event, and c) biodiversity information was developed outside of the emergency management structures. Specific emergency planning for threatened species and communities resulted in the successful translocation of two species that were threatened by fire, the Wollemi pine and eastern bristlebird (de Bie et al., 2023). It was also noted that the protection of biodiversity was almost always subordinate to the protection of life and property.
- Protecting biodiversity assets against, and during future bushfire events, requires having relevant and up to date data, documented prioritisation of conservation assets (and mapping), embedding biodiversity expertise into fire operational command and risk management strategies (such as translocations).
- A review by Woinarski and Rumpff (2023) evaluated the findings and recommendations from the national '2020 Royal Commission into Natural Disaster Arrangements' and three state inquiries (South Australia, Victoria, and New South Wales). This review suggested that the inquiries did not satisfactorily consider biodiversity impacts, and that consideration should be given to biodiversity resilience, that might require an "integrated and well-resourced strategy that deals with multiple threats" (J. C. Woinarski & Rumpff, 2023). To support this view, it was highlighted that of the 80 national inquiry recommendations, only one of these was related to biodiversity (J. C. Woinarski & Rumpff, 2023).
- Biodiversity can be affected by the presence of predators, introduced species and herbivores that impact on habitat quality. Legge et. al (2023) noted that fire amplifies these impacts and there is an opportunity to undertake effective and expansive control of these threats after a bushfire (Legge, Duncan, et al., 2023). This is further supported by Keith et. al (2023) that note the management of threats such as predation, disease, and hydrological integrity, needs to be prioritised after a bushfire.
- Ecological communities are better protected through reduced extant and severity of fires that includes "decreased rate of ignition, early fire suppression and strategic fuel management within or in proximity to the ecological communities" (Keith et al., 2023).

First nations fire and land management

- Cultural land management was identified as important in building resilient communities and landscapes, with first nations communities identified as critical stakeholders. It was recommended that land and fire management research and institutions should recognise the impact of research on country and First Nations communities, and there is a need to develop a First Nations research strategy, by First Nations people, to meaningfully support cultural land management (Natural Hazards Research Australia, 2023). This research also identified ten key strategies to support cultural land management, and these could be applied by RH&C.
- The use of fire to manage country, entwined with cultural values and traditions, has and will continue to be a highly skilled tool that is implemented by Indigenous Australian land management practitioners (van Leeuwen & Miller-Sabbioni, 2023). Since the 2019-2020 bushfires there has been increased interest in using First Nations fire management to reduce future bushfire impacts, and a growing acknowledgement that Indigenous Australians have stewardship over the country (van Leeuwen & Miller-Sabbioni, 2023). The research by van Leeuwen and Miller-Sabbioni (2023) identify the current perception of fire as "dangerous or a hazard" by non-Indigenous Australians, and that this has contributed to "suspending the ability" of fire management by Indigenous fire practitioners.
- A paper by Robinson et. al (2023) acknowledges the significant role that Indigenous communities have in undertaking fire management, and that its application is "dynamic, adaptive and subject to change over time". Although Indigenous communities want to lead cultural burning, there continues to be barriers. A range of solutions to address these barriers have been proposed that include a) empower Indigenous rights and authority, b) support collaboration and reconciliation, c) empower and support Indigenous-led wildfire planning, and d) empower Indigenous rights and authority to care for Country through fire (C. Robinson et al., 2023).

Climate change impacts

- The '2019-2020 bushfires explainer' (CSIRO, 2020b) attributes the 2019-2020 bushfires to increased frequency of fire weather (record low rainfall, record high temperatures), drought conditions (contributing to fuel aridity) and mentions the impacts of climate change in exacerbating these conditions. Research found that whilst drought and heatwave conditions created conditions for extreme fire, local weather and topography also contributed to unusual fire behaviour in the five fires examined by researchers (including Kangaroo Island fires) (Natural Hazards Research Australia, 2023).
- Climate change is recognised as a "fundamental driver" of the 2019-2020 bushfires that influenced the intensity, severity and spread (J. C. Woinarski & Rumpff, 2023). This research by Woinarski and Rumpff (2023) also identified that the inquiries that were evaluated, all acknowledged that it is time critical to adapt management, policy, and legislation to reduce the risks associated with climate change and the frequency of fires.

9. Conclusion

Anthropogenically driven climate change is resulting in a warmer and drier climate and extreme weather events and bushfires, that will continue to affect communities, people, nature and biodiversity. The expanding peri-urban area (urban rural interface) intensifies the risk of bushfire threats to communities as townships and populations continue to grow. Biodiversity continues to be vulnerable to the effects from climate change with an increase in severity and frequency of bushfires, along with other pressures including predation and competition, habitat loss and fragmentation and disease and dieback, with many of these factors exacerbated after a fire.

The federal and state legislation that relates to bushfire management, considers bushfire protection and prevention, in context of people, assets and the environment. However, it is unclear if biodiversity protection, and protection of life and property, is equally prioritised in application. Key biodiversity legislation such as the Australian Governments EPBC Act provides exemptions under the Act for fire management activities that are undertaken in accordance with state legislation. It is hoped that the new South Australian Biodiversity Act will strengthen the protection of biodiversity across the state, and address any unbalanced prioritisation of biodiversity, people, and assets.

Bushfire prevention and mitigation messaging has a strong and consistent theme of "shared responsibility" at the state and federal level, however the fairness and effective application of this is uncertain. In contrast, the concept of shared responsibility for biodiversity conservation is diluted and terms are not used consistently, varying across literature and agencies. It is suggested that the use and messaging of "shared responsibility" could be applied to both biodiversity and bushfire prevention communication, and in combination (i.e. "bushfire preparedness and biodiversity conservation is a shared responsibility").

Fire management by First Nations groups is undertaken for a range of reasons including reduction of fuel loads, promoting germination of plants, and improving habitat (Firesticks Alliance n.d), however it has been largely repressed in some areas of South Australia. It has been suggested that the suppression of Indigenous fire management in some parts of Australia, has resulted in a changed landscape that supports a greater fuel load and greater fire risk. Since the 2019-2020 bushfires there has been increased public support for First Nations land management. It cannot be assumed that the objectives of fire management are always going to be the same between non-Indigenous people and Indigenous fire practitioners – the different perspectives and values need to be identified and considered. Relationship building and establishing trust between First Nations groups, communities, and agencies such as CFS, local government, state government, landscape boards and First Nations groups is critical, and will underpin future steps.

The interaction between biodiversity and fire is complex as burns can have both positive and negative effects on individual species and ecosystems. Bushfires are often described as 'destroying' areas of native bushland, but the effects of fire vary enormously depending on vegetation type, and on the intensity, extent, season, and frequency of burning, and on the landscape context. Bushfires or even prescribed burns, can threaten native biodiversity when they are too hot, occur too often or out of season, are large in extent, or happen in highly modified and fragmented landscapes that limit the ability of species to recolonise burnt patches, and where post-fire weed invasion is more likely. Rare and threatened species with limited geographical distributions are particularly vulnerable to fires, and may be at risk of becoming locally, regionally, or nationally extinct.

As the intensity and frequency of bushfires is likely to increase with the effects of climate change, and the ignition, spread and intensity of fires is often difficult to manage (as it is influenced by fuel, topography, and weather), there is a need for strategies that focus on bushfire mitigation and preparedness. In acknowledgement that fire is a natural process ("hazard") and can not necessarily be prevented, preparedness should focus on reducing vulnerability and exposure to high priority areas, communities, and biodiversity assets.

Identifying appropriate fire regimes and "best-practice fire management" for biodiversity outcomes, will depend on land management history and fire frequency, scale, and intensity, in addition to the highly nuanced and complicated factors of climate change, species ecological requirements and distribution, competition, predation, habitat fragmentation, modification and connectivity. The efficacy of prescribed burns to reduce the impact from bushfires, or to improve biodiversity resilience, and the use of these prescribed burns to achieve multiple outcomes, continues to be debated and contested.

In recognising climate change and the likely increase in bushfire occurrence and intensity, supporting community resilience, so they can psychologically and materially prepare and then recover, is critical and underpins bushfire preparedness. The barriers to resilience needs to be addressed, at a localised and demographic-group scale, and will likely rely on two key strategies of a) outreach and trusted communication, that is effectively delivered, and b) strengthening community connections. Integrating biodiversity conservation into resilience models is equally as important and achievable as community valuing biodiversity and nature and approaches that balance biodiversity with other fire management priorities.

The Resilient Hills & Coasts is a region with significant fire history, including the 2019-2020 bushfires, and will continue to be vulnerable to the impacts from frequent and large-scale bushfires. Although protecting life and property from significant bushfire impacts is essential, the region also has significant biodiversity values that should be equally considered and prioritised. An integrated approach and application of bushfire preparedness and biodiversity conservation is required, that acknowledges the site-specific trade-offs and management objectives, and is underpinned by a "shared-biodiversity and bushfire responsibility" concept.

The Resilient Hills & Coasts 'Bushfires, Biodiversity and Community Resilience Spotlight Studies' and 'Bushfires, Biodiversity and Community Resilience Discussion Paper' further explores the opportunities and initiative that will address bushfire exposure and biodiversity vulnerability within the region.

References

- Abram, N. J., Henley, B. J., Sen Gupta, A., Lippmann, T. J. R., Clarke, H., Dowdy, A. J., Sharples, J. J., Nolan,
 R. H., Zhang, T., Wooster, M. J., Wurtzel, J. B., Meissner, K. J., Pitman, A. J., Ukkola, A. M.,
 Murphy, B. P., Tapper, N. J., & Boer, M. M. (2021). Connections of climate change and variability
 to large and extreme forest fires in southeast Australia. *Communications Earth & Environment*,
 2(1), 8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43247-020-00065-8
- Armstrong, D., Croft, S., & Foulkes, J. (2003). *A biological survey of the southern Mount Lofty Ranges, South Australia, 2000-2001*. Department for Environment and Heritage, South Australia.
- Australian and New Zealand National Council for Fire and Emergency Services. (2022). Australian Fire Danger Rating System [International Council]. *AFDRS Overview*. https://www.afac.com.au/initiative/afdrs/afdrs-overview

Australian Government. (2022). 2022-2032 Threatened Species Action Plan.

Australian Institute for Disaster Resilience. (2019). Australian Emergency Management Arrangements.

- Bardsley, D. K., Moskwa, E., Weber, D., Robinson, G. M., Waschl, N., & Bardsley, A. M. (2018). Climate Change, Bushfire Risk, and Environmental Values: Examining a Potential Risk Perception Threshold in Peri-Urban South Australia. *Society & Natural Resources*, *31*(4), 424–441. https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920.2017.1421733
- Bardsley, D. K., Prowse, T. A. A., & Siegfriedt, C. (2019). Seeking knowledge of traditional Indigenous burning practices to inform regional bushfire management. *Local Environment*, 24(8), 727–745. https://doi.org/10.1080/13549839.2019.1640667
- Bardsley, D. K., Weber, D., Robinson, G. M., Moskwa, E., & Bardsley, A. M. (2015). Wildfire risk, biodiversity and peri-urban planning in the Mt Lofty Ranges, South Australia. *Applied Geography*, *63*, 155–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2015.06.012
- Beier, P. (2012). Conceptualizing and Designing Corridors for Climate Change. *Ecological Restoration*, 30(4), 312–319. https://doi.org/10.3368/er.30.4.312

- Berke, P., Cooper, J., Salvesen, D., Spurlock, D., & Rausch, C. (2010). Building Capacity for Disaster
 Resiliency in Six Disadvantaged Communities. Sustainability, 3(1), 1–20.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/su3010001
- Biggs, J. R., Gray, J., West, J., Wrigley, D., Duval, D., Guerin, J., & Te, T. (2023). *Ex situ responses to the 2019-20 wildfires*. CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- Bonney, M. T., He, Y., & Myint, S. W. (2020). Contextualizing the 2019–2020 Kangaroo Island Bushfires: Quantifying Landscape-Level Influences on Past Severity and Recovery with Landsat and Google Earth Engine. *Remote Sensing*, *12*(23), 3942. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12233942
- Bonta, M., Gosford, R., Eussen, D., Ferguson, N., Loveless, E., & Witwer, M. (2017). Intentional firespreading by "Firehawk" raptors in northern Australia. *Journal of Ethnobiology*, *37*(4), 700. https://doi.org/10.2993/0278-0771-37.4.700
- Boon H. (2014). Investigation rural community communication for flood and bushfire preparedness. 29(4).
- Both, C., van Asch, M., Bijlsma, R. G., van den Burg, A. B., & Visser, M. E. (2009). Climate change and unequal phenological changes across four trophic levels: Constraints or adaptations? *Journal* of Animal Ecology, 78(1), 73–83. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2008.01458.x
- Bowd, E. J., Egidi, E., Lindenmayer, D. B., Wardle, D. A., Kardol, P., Cary, G. J., & Foster, C. (2022). Direct and indirect effects of fire on microbial communities in a pyrodiverse dry-sclerophyll forest. *Journal of Ecology*, *110*(7), 1687–1703. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13903
- Brouwers, N., Matusick, G., Ruthrof, K., Lyons, T., & Hardy, G. (2013). Landscape-scale assessment of tree crown dieback following extreme drought and heat in a Mediterranean eucalypt forest ecosystem. *Landscape Ecology*, *28*(1), 69–80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-012-9815-3
- Burbidge, A. A., McKenzie, N. L., Brennan, K. E. C., Woinarski, J. C. Z., Dickman, C. R., Baynes, A., Gordon,
 G., Menkhorst, P. W., & Robinson, A. C. (2008). Conservation status and biogeography of
 Australia's terrestrial mammals. *Australian Journal of Zoology*, 56(6), 411.
 https://doi.org/10.1071/ZO08027

Bureau of Meterology. (n.d.). *Fire Weather Knowledge Centre > Bushfire weather* [Australian Government]. Retrieved September 15, 2022, from http://www.bom.gov.au/weather-services/fire-weather-centre/bushfire-weather/index.shtml

Bureau of Meterology, & CSIRO. (2022). State of The Climate 2022.

- Burrows, N., & McCaw, L. (2013). Prescribed burning in southwestern Australian forests. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, *11*(s1), e25–e34. https://doi.org/10.1890/120356
- Butt, N., Chauvenet, A. L. M., Adams, V. M., Beger, M., Gallagher, R. V., Shanahan, D. F., Ward, M.,
 Watson, J. E. M., & Possingham, H. P. (2021). Importance of species translocations under rapid
 climate change. *Conservation Biology*, *35*(3), 775–783. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13643
- Campbell, T., Bradshaw, S. D., Dixon, K. W., & Zylstra, P. (2022). Wildfire risk management across diverse bioregions in a changing climate. *Geomatics, Natural Hazards and Risk, 13*(1), 2405–2424. https://doi.org/10.1080/19475705.2022.2119891
- Canadell, J. G., Meyer, C. P., Cook, G. D., Dowdy, A., Briggs, P. R., Knauer, J., Pepler, A., & Haverd, V. (2021). Multi-decadal increase of forest burned area in Australia is linked to climate change. *Nature Communications*, *12*(1), 6921. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-27225-4
- Catullo, R. A., Schembri, R., Tedeschi, L. G., Eldridge, M. D. B., Joseph, L., & Moritz, C. C. (2021). Benchmarking Taxonomic and Genetic Diversity After the Fact: Lessons Learned From the Catastrophic 2019–2020 Australian Bushfires. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, *9*, 645820. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2021.645820
- Chambers, L. E., Hughes, L., & Weston, M. A. (2005). Climate change and its impact on Australia's avifauna. *Emu Austral Ornithology*, *105*(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1071/MU04033

Chapple, D. G. (Ed.). (2019). The Action Plan for Australian Lizards and Snakes 2017. CSIRO Publishing.

Clarke, H., Cirulis, B., Penman, T., Price, O., Boer, M. M., & Bradstock, R. (2022). The 2019–2020 Australian forest fires are a harbinger of decreased prescribed burning effectiveness under rising extreme conditions. *Scientific Reports*, *12*(1), 11871. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-15262-y

- Clarke, H., Cirulis, B., Price, O., Bradstock, R., Boer, M., Rawlins, A., & Penman, T. (2021). *RISK MITIGATION FROM PRESCRIBED BURNING IN KANGAROO ISLAND AND MOUNT LOFTY RANGES*.
- Collins, L., Penman, T. D., Price, O. F., & Bradstock, R. A. (2015). Adding fuel to the fire? Revegetation influences wildfire size and intensity. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *150*, 196–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2014.11.009
- Collins, L., Penman, T. D., Price, O. F., & Bradstock, R. A. (2013, December 1). Will environmental revegetation increase the threat wildfire poses to assets? *Piantadosi, J., Anderssen, R.S. and Boland J. (Eds) MODSIM2013, 20th International Congress on Modelling and Simulation*. 20th International Congress on Modelling and Simulation (MODSIM2013). https://doi.org/10.36334/modsim.2013.A3.collins

Commonwealth of Australia. (2019). Australia's Strategy for Nature 2019-2030.

- Commonwealth of Australia. (2020). *Royal Commission into National Natural Disaster Arrangements: Report*. Commonwealth of Australia.
- Cook-Patton, S. C., Drever, C. R., Griscom, B. W., Hamrick, K., Hardman, H., Kroeger, T., Pacheco, P., Raghav, S., Stevenson, M., Webb, C., Yeo, S., & Ellis, P. W. (2021). Protect, manage and then restore lands for climate mitigation. *Nature Climate Change*, *11*(12), 1027–1034. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-021-01198-0
- Cooper, V., Fairbrother, P., Elliott, G., Walker, M., & Ch'ng, H.-Y. (2020). Shared responsibility and community engagement: Community narratives of bushfire risk information in Victoria, Australia. *Journal of Rural Studies, 80,* 259–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2020.09.015
- Cottrell, A. (2009). *Know Your Patch to Grow Your Patch: Briefing Paper*. Understanding Communities Project Bushfire CRC & Centre for Disaster Studies James Cook University. https://www.bushfirecrc.com/sites/default/files/managed/resource/know_your_patch_briefing_paper_0.pdf

- Country Fire Service SA. (2023). *Plan and prepare*. Country Fire Service South Australia. https://www.cfs.sa.gov.au/plan-prepare/
- Crisp, M. D., Burrows, G. E., Cook, L. G., Thornhill, A. H., & Bowman, D. M. J. S. (2011). Flammable biomes dominated by eucalypts originated at the Cretaceous–Palaeogene boundary. *Nature Communications*, 2(1), 193. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1191
- CS Resilience & SA CFS. (2020). Lessons From The Island: An independent review of the fires that burnt across Kangaroo Island during December 2019—February 2020.
- CSIRO. (2020a). *Preparing Australia for future extreme bushfire events* (pp. 1–16). Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation.
- CSIRO. (2020b). The 2019-20 bushfires: A CSIRO explainer. CSIRO Publishing. https://www.csiro.au/en/research/natural-disasters/bushfires/2019-20-bushfires-explainer

CSIRO. (2022). Bushfire Best Practice Guide. CSIRO. https://research.csiro.au/bushfire/

- Davies, G. T. O., Kirkpatrick, J. B., Cameron, E. Z., Carver, S., & Johnson, C. N. (2019). Ecosystem engineering by digging mammals: Effects on soil fertility and condition in Tasmanian temperate woodland. *Royal Society Open Science*, 6(1), 180621. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.180621
- Davis, R. A., & Doherty, T. S. (2015). Rapid Recovery of an Urban Remnant Reptile Community following Summer Wildfire. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(5), e0127925. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0127925
- DCCEEW. (n.d.-a). Loss of terrestrial climatic habitat caused by anthropogenic emissions of greenhouse gases: Advice to the Minister for the Environment and Heritage from the Threatened Species Scientific Committee on a public nomination of a Key Threatening Process under the Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999. Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water. Retrieved October 3, 2023, from https://www.dcceew.gov.au/environment/biodiversity/threatened/key-threateningprocesses/loss-of-habitat-caused-by-greenhouse-gases

- DCCEEW. (n.d.-b). Species Profile and Threats Database: Recovery Plans made or adopted under the EPBC Act. Retrieved October 3, 2023, from http://www.environment.gov.au/cgibin/sprat/public/publicshowallrps.pl
- DCCEEW. (2022a). *Objectives*. Australia's Nature Hub. https://www.australiasnaturehub.gov.au/national-strategy/objectives
- DCCEEW. (2022b, February 19). *Fire regimes that cause declines in biodiversity* [Government department]. Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water. https://www.dcceew.gov.au/environment/biodiversity/threatened/key-threatening-processes/fire-regimes-that-cause-declines-in-biodiversity
- DCCEEW. (2023). EPBC Act List of Threatened Ecological Communities [Government department]. Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water. http://www.environment.gov.au/cgi-bin/sprat/public/publiclookupcommunities.pl
- de Bie, K., Currey, K., & Rumpff, L. (2023). What did we learn about biodiversity management, policy and operations from the 2019–20 wildfires? In *Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019-2020: Vol. Chapter 29.* CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- de Bie, K., Currey, K., Woinarski, J., Wintle, B., Garnett, S., & Rumpff, L. (2021). *Protecting threatened species and ecological communities before and during bushfire: Learning from the 2019–20 fires* (Project 8.5.1). NESP Threatened Species Recovery Hub.
- DEW. (2022). *Guide to Climate Projections for Risk Assessment and Planning in South Australia 2022*. Government of South Australia.
- Doherty, T. S., Geary, W. L., Jolly, C. J., Macdonald, K. J., Miritis, V., Watchorn, D. J., Cherry, M. J., Conner,
 L. M., González, T. M., Legge, S. M., Ritchie, E. G., Stawski, C., & Dickman, C. R. (2022). Fire as a driver and mediator of predator–prey interactions. *Biological Reviews*, *97*(4), 1539–1558. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12853

- Doty, A., Stawski, C., Nowack, J., Bondarenco, A., & Geiser, F. (2015). Increased lyrebird presence in a post-fire landscape. *Australian Journal of Zoology*, *63*(1), 9. https://doi.org/10.1071/ZO14053
- Draper, N. (2015). Islands of the dead? Prehistoric occupation of Kangaroo Island and other southern offshore islands and watercraft use by Aboriginal Australians. *Quaternary International, 385*, 229–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2015.01.008
- Duke, N. C., Hutley, L. B., Mackenzie, J. R., & Burrows, D. (2021). Processes and Factors Driving Change in Mangrove Forests: An Evaluation Based on the Mass Dieback Event in Australia's Gulf of Carpentaria. In J. G. Canadell & R. B. Jackson (Eds.), *Ecosystem Collapse and Climate Change* (Vol. 241, pp. 221–264). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71330-0_9
- Eburn, M., & Cary, G. J. (2017). You own the fuel, but who owns the fire? *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, *26*(12), 999. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF17070
- Edwards, A., & Gill, N. (2016). Living with landscape fire: Landholder understandings of agency, scale and control within fiery entanglements. *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space*, *34*(6), 1080–1097. https://doi.org/10.1177/0263775816645588
- Ens, E., Finlayson, M., Preuss, K., Jackson, S., & Holcombe, S. (2012). Australian approaches for managing 'country' using Indigenous and non-Indigenous knowledge. *Ecological Management* & *Restoration*, 13(1), 100–107.
- Every, D., McLennan, J., Reynolds, A., & Trigg, J. (2019). Australian householders' psychological preparedness for potential natural hazard threats: An exploration of contributing factors. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 38, 101203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2019.101203
- Farnsworth, L. M., Nimmo, D. G., Kelly, L. T., Bennett, A. F., & Clarke, M. F. (2014). Does pyrodiversity beget alpha, beta or gamma diversity? A case study using reptiles from semi-arid Australia. *Diversity and Distributions*, 20(6), 663–673. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12181

- Filkov, A. I., Ngo, T., Matthews, S., Telfer, S., & Penman, T. D. (2020). Impact of Australia's catastrophic
 2019/20 bushfire season on communities and environment. Retrospective analysis and current
 trends. *Journal of Safety Science and Resilience*, 1(1), 44–56.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnlssr.2020.06.009
- Firesticks Alliance. (n.d.). *Guide for Developing a Fire Management Plan*. Nature Conservation Council of NSW.
- First Nations cultural burning workshop on Kangaroo Island. (2022, June 16). *The KI Islander*. https://www.theislanderonline.com.au/story/7766207/first-nations-cultural-burningworkshop-on-kangaroo-island/?cs=356
- Fletcher, M.-S., Romano, A., Connor, S., Mariani, M., & Maezumi, S. Y. (2021). Catastrophic Bushfires, Indigenous Fire Knowledge and Reframing Science in Southeast Australia. *Fire*, *4*(3), 61. https://doi.org/10.3390/fire4030061
- Forrest, J. R. (2016). Complex responses of insect phenology to climate change. *Current Opinion in Insect Science*, *17*, 49–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2016.07.002
- Foster, C. N., Banks, S. C., Cary, G. J., Johnson, C. N., Lindenmayer, D. B., & Valentine, L. E. (2020). Animals as agents in fire regimes. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 35(4), 346–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2020.01.002
- Fryirs, K. A., Zhang, N., Duxbury, E., & Ralph, T. (2022). Rivers up in smoke: Impacts of Australia's 2019–2020 megafires on riparian systems. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, *31*(7), 720–727. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF22046
- Fullagar, H. H. K., Schwarz, E., Richardson, A., Notley, S. R., Lu, D., & Duffield, R. (2021). Australian firefighters perceptions of heat stress, fatigue and recovery practices during fire-fighting tasks in extreme environments. *Applied Ergonomics*, 95, 103449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2021.103449
- Fulton, G. R. (2017). The Bramble Cay melomys: The first mammalian extinction due to human-induced climate change. *Pacific Conservation Biology*, *23*(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1071/PCv23n1_ED

- Gallagher, R. V., Allen, S., Mackenzie, B. D. E., Yates, C. J., Gosper, C. R., Keith, D. A., Merow, C., White,
 M. D., Wenk, E., Maitner, B. S., He, K., Adams, V. M., & Auld, T. D. (2021). High fire frequency and the impact of the 2019–2020 megafires on Australian plant diversity. *Diversity and Distributions*, 27(7), 1166–1179. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.13265
- Gallagher, R. V., Barrett, S., Bell, S., Copeland, L., Dillon, R., Gosper, C. R., Keith, D. A., Le Breton, T. D., Mackenzie, B. D. E., Messina, A., Neldner, V. J., Ngugi, M., Nolan, R. H., Ooi, M. K., Tasker, E., Tozer, M., Walsh, N., Yates, C., & Auld, T. D. (2023). Blackened roots and green shoots: Emerging trends in decline and recovery in Australian plant species after the 2019–20 wildfires. In *Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019-2020: Vol. Chapter 9*. CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- Gardner, J. L., Amano, T., Backwell, P. R. Y., Ikin, K., Sutherland, W. J., & Peters, A. (2014). Temporal patterns of avian body size reflect linear size responses to broadscale environmental change over the last 50 years. *Journal of Avian Biology*, *45*(6), 529–535. https://doi.org/10.1111/jav.00431

Garnett, S. T., & Baker, G. B. (Eds.). (2021). The Action Plan for Australian Birds 2020. CSIRO Publishing.

- Garnett, S. T., Ensbey, M., Lee, J., Boulton, R., Gates, J., Berris, K., Oliver, D., Malolakis, G., McCreery, D.,
 Bain, D., & Legge, S. (2023). The impacts of the 2019–20 wildfires on Australian birds. In
 Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019-2020: Vol. Chapter 15. CSIRO
 Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- Gill, A. M. (2012). Fire regimes, biodiversity conservation and prescribed burning programs.pdf. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Victoria*, 124(1), 1–6.
- Gill, A. M., Woinarski, J., & York, A. (1999). *Australia's biodiversity-responses to fire: Plants, birds, and invertebrates: Vol. Biodiversity Technical Paper, No. 1.* Dept. of the Environment and Heritage.
- Gomes, L. E. de O., Sanders, C. J., Nobrega, G. N., Vescovi, L. C., Queiroz, H. M., Kauffman, J. B., Ferreira, T. O., & Bernardino, A. F. (2021). Ecosystem carbon losses following a climate-induced

mangrove mortality in Brazil. *Journal of Environmental Management, 297*, 113381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.113381

 Government of South Australia. (2020a). Independent Review into South Australia's 2019-20 Bushfire

 Season.

 https://safecom-files

v8.s3.amazonaws.com/current/docs/Independent%2520Review%2520into%2520SA%2527s% 25202019-20%2520Bushfire%2520Season%2520-%2520Web%2520Upload.pdf

Government of South Australia. (2020b). *Recommendations from the South Australian wildlife and habitat bushfire recovery taskforce.*

Government of South Australia. (2021). *SA State Bushfire Management Plan 2021-2025*. State Bushfire Coordination Committee. https://safecom-filesv8.s3.amazonaws.com/current/docs/SLD180%2520SASBMP%2520Digital%2520WEB%2520% 2528A1547888%2529.pdf

Government of South Australia. (2013). Ecological FIre Management Guidelines for Native Vegetation

in South Australia—First Edition.

https://cdn.environment.sa.gov.au/environment/docs/ecological-fire-management-

guidelines-native-vegetation-gen.pdf

Greenfield, P. (2022). The biodiversity crisis in numbers—A visual guide. *The Guardian*.

Gurtner, Y. (2022). Townsville Bushfire Preparedness. *Technical Report*.

Hayward, M. W., Ward-Fear, G., L'Hotellier, F., Herman, K., Kabat, A. P., & Gibbons, J. P. (2017). Could biodiversity loss have increased Australia's bushfire threat? *Animal Conservation*, *19*(6), 490–497. https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12269

Hoffman, K. M., Davis, E. L., Wickham, S. B., Schang, K., Johnson, A., Larking, T., Lauriault, P. N., Quynh
Le, N., Swerdfager, E., & Trant, A. J. (2021). Conservation of Earth's biodiversity is embedded in
Indigenous fire stewardship. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *118*(32),
e2105073118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2105073118
- Hoffmann, A. A., Miller, A. D., & Weeks, A. R. (2021). Genetic mixing for population management: From genetic rescue to provenancing. *Evolutionary Applications*, 14(3), 634–652.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.13154
- Hoffmann, A. A., Rymer, P. D., Byrne, M., Ruthrof, K. X., Whinam, J., McGeoch, M., Bergstrom, D. M., Guerin, G. R., Sparrow, B., Joseph, L., Hill, S. J., Andrew, N. R., Camac, J., Bell, N., Riegler, M., Gardner, J. L., & Williams, S. E. (2019). Impacts of recent climate change on terrestrial flora and fauna: Some emerging Australian examples. *Austral Ecology*, 44(1), 3–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/aec.12674
- Howard, A., Agllias, K., Bevis, M., & Blakemore, T. (2018). How Social Isolation Affects Disaster Preparedness and Response in Australia: Implications for Social Work. *Australian Social Work*, 71(4), 392–404. https://doi.org/10.1080/0312407X.2018.1487461
- Hunt, A. P., Stewart, I. B., & Billing, D. C. (2019). Indices of physiological strain for firefighters of the
 Australian Defence Forces. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Hygiene*, *16*(11), 727–734. https://doi.org/10.1080/15459624.2019.1666211
- Huynh, J. Y., Xanthopoulou, D., & Winefield, A. H. (2013). Social support moderates the impact of demands on burnout and organizational connectedness: A two-wave study of volunteer firefighters. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 18(1), 9–15. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030804
- IUCN/SSC. (2013). *Guidelines for Reintroductions & Other Conservation Translocations, Version 1.0* [Guidelines]. International Union for the Conservation of Nature/Species Survival Commission.
- Jenkins, M., Price, O., Collins, L., Penman, T., & Bradstock, R. (2019). The influence of planting size and configuration on landscape fire risk. *Journal of Environmental Management, 248*, 109338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.109338
- Jones, G. M., & Tingley, M. W. (2022). Pyrodiversity and biodiversity: A history, synthesis, and outlook. *Diversity and Distributions*, 28(3), 386–403. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.13280

- Keeley, J. E., & Pausas, J. G. (2018). Evolution of 'smoke' induced seed germination in pyroendemic plants. South African Journal of Botany, 115, 251–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2016.07.012
- Keeley, J. E., & Pausas, J. G. (2022). Evolutionary Ecology of Fire. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, *53*(1), 203–225. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-102320-095612
- Keighery, G., Gosper, C., Barrett, S., Coates, D., & Makinson, R. (2023). The compounding impacts of disease and weeds after the 2019–20 wildfires on Australian vascular plants and communities.
 In Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019-2020: Vol. Chapter 18. CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- Keith, D. A., Barrett, S., Dillon, R., Gosper, C. R., Kooyman, R. M., Maclean, N., Mallee, J., Nitschke, C., Rumpff, L., Seddon, J., Williams, D., Yates, C. J., & Woinarski, J. C. Z. (Eds.). (2023). In *Ecological communities: Impact and response*. CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- Laming, A., Fletcher, M.-S., Romano, A., Mullett, R., Connor, S., Mariani, M., Maezumi, S. Y., & Gadd, P. S. (2022). The Curse of Conservation: Empirical Evidence Demonstrating That Changes in Land-Use Legislation Drove Catastrophic Bushfires in Southeast Australia. *Fire*, *5*(6), 175. https://doi.org/10.3390/fire5060175
- Landscape SA. (2021, August 6). *There's Flying Fish in the Flinders Ranges*. Landscape South Australia -Arid Lands. https://www.landscape.sa.gov.au/saal/news/flying-fish-in-the-flinders-ranges
- Landscape SA. (2022, May 27). *Learn about Aboriginal cultural burning in South Australia*. https://www.landscape.sa.gov.au/learn-about-aboriginal-cultural-burning-in-south-australia
- Lantz, E., & Runefors, M. (2021). Recruitment, retention and resignation among Non-Career Firefighters. International Journal of Emergency Services, 10(1), 26–39. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJES-02-2020-0009
- Legge, S., Duncan, D., Forsyth, D., Giljohann, K., Hogendoorn, K., Hohnen, R., Hradsky, B., & Lintermans, M. (2023). How introduced animals compound the effects of fire on native plants and animals.

In Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019-2020: Vol. Chapter 35. CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656

- Legge, S., Rumpff, L., & Woinarski, J. C. (2023). *Review of impacts of the 2019-20 wildfires on biodiversity* (S. Legge, L. Rumpff, S. van Leeuwen, B. Wintle, & J. Woinarski, Eds.). CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- Legge, S., Woinarski, J. C. Z., Scheele, B. C., Garnett, S. T., Lintermans, M., Nimmo, D. G., Whiterod, N. S., Southwell, D. M., Ehmke, G., Buchan, A., Gray, J., Metcalfe, D. J., Page, M., Rumpff, L., Leeuwen, S., Williams, D., Ahyong, S. T., Chapple, D. G., Cowan, M., ... Tingley, R. (2022). Rapid assessment of the biodiversity impacts of the 2019–2020 Australian megafires to guide urgent management intervention and recovery and lessons for other regions. *Diversity and Distributions*, *28*(3), 571–591. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.13428
- LGA Board. (2019). Local Government Emergency Management Framework.
- Lindenmayer, D. (2022). Birds on farms: A review of factors influencing bird occurrence in the temperate woodlands of south-eastern Australia. *Emu Austral Ornithology*, *122*(3–4), 238–254. https://doi.org/10.1080/01584197.2022.2106875
- Lindenmayer, D., & Bowd, E. (2022). Cultural burning, cultural misappropriation, over-simplification of land management complexity, and ecological illiteracy. *Ecological Management & Restoration*, emr.12564. https://doi.org/10.1111/emr.12564
- Mace, G. M., Norris, K., & Fitter, A. H. (2012). Biodiversity and ecosystem services: A multilayered relationship. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *27*(1), 19–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2011.08.006
- MacGillivray, F., Hudson, I. L., & Lowe, A. J. (2010). Herbarium Collections and Photographic Images:
 Alternative Data Sources for Phenological Research. In I. L. Hudson & M. R. Keatley (Eds.), *Phenological Research* (pp. 425–461). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-3335-2_19

- Mahony, M., Hines, H., Lemckert, F., Newell, D., Roberts, J. D., Rowley, J. J. L., Scheele, B. C., & West,
 M. (2023). The impacts of the 2019–20 wildfires on Australian frogs. In *Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019-2020: Vol. Chapter 13.* CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- Mariani, M., Connor, S. E., Theuerkauf, M., Herbert, A., Kuneš, P., Bowman, D., Fletcher, M.-S., Head,
 L., Kershaw, A. P., Haberle, S. G., Stevenson, J., Adeleye, M., Cadd, H., Hopf, F., & Briles, C.
 (2022). Disruption of cultural burning promotes shrub encroachment and unprecedented
 wildfires. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 20*(5), 292–300.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.2395
- Marsh, J., Bal, P., Fraser, H., Greenville, A., Latty, T., Moir, M., Rumpff, L., Umbers, K., & Woinarski, J. C.
 Z. (2023). Impacts of the 2019–20 wildfires on Australian invertebrates. In *Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019-2020: Vol. Chapter 11*. CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- Marshall, D., & Am, D. J. L. (2019). INDEPENDENT EXPERT REVIEW OF THE MOUNT LOFTY RANGES WORLD HERITAGE BID.
- Maru, Y. T., Stafford Smith, M., Sparrow, A., Pinho, P. F., & Dube, O. P. (2014). A linked vulnerability and resilience framework for adaptation pathways in remote disadvantaged communities. *Global Environmental Change*, *28*, 337–350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2013.12.007
- Matusick, G., Ruthrof, K. X., Brouwers, N. C., Dell, B., & Hardy, G. St. J. (2013). Sudden forest canopy collapse corresponding with extreme drought and heat in a mediterranean-type eucalypt forest in southwestern Australia. *European Journal of Forest Research*, *132*(3), 497–510. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-013-0690-5
- May, T., Bal, P., Hao, T., Muscatello, A., Bowd, E., Catcheside, D., Catcheside, P., Davoodian, N., & Truong, C. (2023). The impacts of the 2019–20 wildfires on Australian fungi. In *Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019-2020: Vol. Chapter 10*. CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656

- McDonald, J., & McCormack, P. C. (2022). Responsibility and Risk-Sharing in Climate Adaptation: A Case Study of Bushfire Risk in Australia. *Climate Law, 12*(2), 128–161. https://doi.org/10.1163/18786561-20210003
- McKemey, M., Banbai Rangers, T., Patterson, M. (Lesley), Hunter, J., Ridges, M., Ens, E., Miller, C.,
 Costello, O., & Reid, N. (2021). Indigenous cultural burning had less impact than wildfire on the
 threatened Backwater grevillea (Grevillea scortechinii subsp. Sarmentosa) while effectively
 decreasing fuel loads. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 30(10), 745.
 https://doi.org/10.1071/WF20135
- Moskwa, E. C., Ahonen, I., Santala, V., Weber, D., Robinson, G. M., & Bardsley, D. K. (2016). Perceptions of bushfire risk mitigation and biodiversity conservation: A systematic review of fifteen years of research. *Environmental Reviews*, *24*(3), 219–232. https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2015-0070
- Murphy, B. P., Cochrane, M. A., & Russell-Smith, J. (2015). Prescribed burning protects endangered tropical heathlands of the Arnhem Plateau, northern Australia. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *52*(4), 980–991. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12455
- Murphy, H., & van Leeuwen, S. (2021). *Australia State of the Environment—Biodiversity*. Australian Government.
- Murphy, M. J., Jones, H. A., & Koen, T. (2021). A seven-year study of the response of woodland birds to a large-scale wildfire and the role of proximity to unburnt habitat. *Austral Ecology*, *46*(7), 1138– 1155. https://doi.org/10.1111/aec.13049
- Natural Hazards Research Australia. (2023). Understanding the Black Summer bushfires through research: A summary of key findings from the Bushfire and Natural Hazards CRC (10.2022). Natural Hazards Research Australia. www.naturalhazards.com.au/black-summer
- Nepal, V., Banerjee, D., Perry, M., & Scott, D. (2012). Disaster Preparedness of Linguistically Isolated Populations: Practical Issues for Planners. *Health Promotion Practice*, *13*(2), 265–271. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839910384932

- Nicolopoulos N & Hansen E. (2009). *How well Prepared are Australian Communities for Natural Disasters and Fire Emergencies? 24*(1).
- Nimmo, D. G., Andersen, A. N., Archibald, S., Boer, M. M., Brotons, L., Parr, C. L., & Tingley, M. W. (2022). Fire ecology for the 21st century: Conserving biodiversity in the age of megafire. *Diversity and Distributions*, *28*(3), 350–356. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.13482
- Nimmo, D., Jolly, C., Catullo, R. A., Greenlees, M., Melville, J., Michael, D., Mulder, E., Southwell, D. M.,
 & Webb, J. (2023). The impacts of the 2019–20 wildfires on Australia's lizards and snakes. In Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019-2020: Vol. Chapter 14. CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- Nolan, R. H., Bowman, D. M. J. S., Clarke, H., Haynes, K., Ooi, M. K. J., Price, O. F., Williamson, G. J.,
 Whittaker, J., Bedward, M., Boer, M. M., Cavanagh, V. I., Collins, L., Gibson, R. K., Griebel, A.,
 Jenkins, M. E., Keith, D. A., Mcilwee, A. P., Penman, T. D., Samson, S. A., ... Bradstock, R. A.
 (2021). What Do the Australian Black Summer Fires Signify for the Global Fire Crisis? *Fire*, 4(4),
 97. https://doi.org/10.3390/fire4040097
- Nunez, S., Arets, E., Alkemade, R., Verwer, C., & Leemans, R. (2019). Assessing the impacts of climate change on biodiversity: Is below 2 °C enough? *Climatic Change*, *154*(3–4), 351–365. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-019-02420-x
- Nuñez, T. A., Lawler, J. J., Mcrae, B. H., Pierce, D. J., Krosby, M. B., Kavanagh, D. M., Singleton, P. H., & Tewksbury, J. J. (2013). Connectivity Planning to Address Climate Change: Climate Change and Connectivity. *Conservation Biology*, 27(2), 407–416. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12014
- Oliveira, B. F., Moore, F. C., & Dong, X. (2022). Biodiversity mediates ecosystem sensitivity to climate variability. *Communications Biology*, *5*(1), 628. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-022-03573-9
- Ong, O. T. W., Skinner, E. B., Johnson, B. J., & Old, J. M. (2021). Mosquito-Borne Viruses and Non-Human Vertebrates in Australia: A Review. *Viruses*, *13*(2), 265. https://doi.org/10.3390/v13020265

- Pastro, L. A., Dickman, C. R., & Letnic, M. (2011). Burning for biodiversity or burning biodiversity?
 Prescribed burn vs. wildfire impacts on plants, lizards, and mammals. *Ecological Applications*, 21(8), 3238–3253. https://doi.org/10.1890/10-2351.1
- Penman, T., Clarke, H., Gibson, R., Collins, L., & Nolan, R. (2023). The 2019–20 Australian wildfires:
 Precursors, characteristics and implications for the future. In *Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019-2020: Vol. Chapter 2.* CSIRO Publishing.
 https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- Penman, T. D., Binns, D. L., & Kavanagh, R. P. (2006). *Burning for biodiversity or burning the biodiversity?* 6.
- Perry, J., Patykowski, J., Murphy, H., Richards, A., Gillespie, A., Vanderduys, E., Douglas, M., Setterfield,
 S., Somaweera, R., & Lourie, H. (2021). Savanna fire regimes and biodiversity impacts in northern Australia, final report. CSIRO.
- Phillips, M., Payne, W., Lord, C., Netto, K., Nichols, D., & Aisbett, B. (2012). Identification of physically demanding tasks performed during bushfire suppression by Australian rural firefighters. *Applied Ergonomics*, 43(2), 435–441. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2011.06.018
- Pooley, J. A., Cohen, L., & O'Connor, M. (2010). Bushfire Communities and Resilience: What Can They Tell Us? *The Australian Journal of Emergency Management*, *25*(02), 35–40.
- Price, O. F., & Bradstock, R. A. (2012). The efficacy of fuel treatment in mitigating property loss during wildfires: Insights from analysis of the severity of the catastrophic fires in 2009 in Victoria, Australia. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *113*, 146–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2012.08.041
- Prowse, T. A. A., Collard, S. J., Blackwood, A., O'Connor, P. J., Delean, S., Barnes, M., Cassey, P., & Possingham, H. P. (2017). Prescribed burning impacts avian diversity and disadvantages woodland-specialist birds unless long-unburnt habitat is retained. *Biological Conservation*, 215, 268–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2017.09.005

- Pyke, J., Law, A., Jiang, M., & de Lacy, T. (2018). Learning from the locals: The role of stakeholder engagement in building tourism and community resilience. *Journal of Ecotourism*, *17*(3), 206–219. https://doi.org/10.1080/14724049.2018.1505586
- Redshaw, D. S., Hicks, P. J., & Millynn, J. (2017). *Emergency preparedness through community sector* engagement in the blue mountains.

Resilient Hills & Coasts. (2020). Regional Climate Change Adaptation Plan, Evaluating Our Progress.

- Robinson, A. C., & Armstrong, D. (1999). A Biological Survey of Kangaroo Island, South Australia, 1989
 & 1990. Heritage and Biodiversity Section, Department for Environment, Heritage and Aboriginal Affairs, South Australia.
- Robinson, C., Costello, O., Lockwood, M., Pert, P., & Garnett, S. (2023). Empowering Indigenous leadership and participation in wildfire recovery, cultural burning and land management. In *Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019-2020: Vol. Chapter 33*. CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- Romanelli, C., H.David Cooper, Campbell-Lendrum, D., Maiero, M., Karesh, W. B., Hunter, D., & Golden,
 C. D. (2015). *Connecting Global Priorities: Biodiversity and Human Health, a State of Knowledge Review*. World Health Organization and Secretariat for the Convention on Biological Diversity.
 https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.3679.6565
- Rumpff, L., Legge, S., van Leeuwen, S., Wintle, B., & Woinarski, J. (Eds.). (2023). *Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019-2020*. CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- Santori, C., Rowe, S., & Smyth, C. (2023). The impacts of the 2019–20 wildfires on marine species and ecosystems. In *Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019-2020: Vol. Chapter 7.* CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- Santos, J. L., Hradsky, B. A., Keith, D. A., Rowe, K. C., Senior, K. L., Sitters, H., & Kelly, L. T. (2022). Beyond inappropriate fire regimes: A synthesis of fire-driven declines of threatened mammals in Australia. *Conservation Letters*. https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12905

- Saunders, M. E., Barton, P. S., Bickerstaff, J. R. M., Frost, L., Latty, T., Lessard, B. D., Lowe, E. C., Rodriguez, J., White, T. E., & Umbers, K. D. L. (2021). Limited understanding of bushfire impacts on Australian invertebrates. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, 14(3), 285–293. https://doi.org/10.1111/icad.12493
- Scheffers, B. R., & Pecl, G. (2019). Persecuting, protecting or ignoring biodiversity under climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, *9*(8), 581–586. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0526-5
- Searle, E., & Chen, H. Y. (2018). Biodiversity as a solution to mitigate climate change impacts on the functioning of forest ecosytems. *Biological Reviews*.
- SES Tasmania. (n.d.). *P3. Shared Responsibilities* [Tasmania State Emergency Service]. Tasmania State Emergency Service. Retrieved March 6, 2023, from https://www.ses.tas.gov.au/emergency-management-2/tasemt/community-resilience-engagement/shared-responsibilities/
- Setterfield, S. A., Rossiter-Rachor, N. A., Douglas, M. M., Wainger, L., Petty, A. M., Barrow, P., Shepherd,
 I. J., & Ferdinands, K. B. (2013). Adding Fuel to the Fire: The Impacts of Non-Native Grass
 Invasion on Fire Management at a Regional Scale. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(5), e59144.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0059144
- Sgrò, C. M., Lowe, A. J., & Hoffmann, A. A. (2011). Building evolutionary resilience for conserving biodiversity under climate change: Conserving biodiversity under climate change. *Evolutionary Applications*, *4*(2), 326–337. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-4571.2010.00157.x
- Silcock, J. L., Collingwood, T., Llorens, T., & Fensham, R. J. (2021). *Action Plan for Australia's Imperilled Plants*. NESP Threatened Species Recovery Hub.
- Silcock, J. L., & Fensham, R. J. (2018). Using evidence of decline and extinction risk to identify priority regions, habitats and threats for plant conservation in Australia. *Australian Journal of Botany*, *66*(7), 541. https://doi.org/10.1071/BT18056
- Smith, E., Holmes, L., Larkin, B., Mills, B., & Dobson, M. (2022). Supporting Volunteer Firefighter Well-Being: Lessons from the Australian "Black Summer" Bushfires. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*, *37*(2), 273–276. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049023X22000322

Smith, W., Neale, T., & Weir, J. K. (2021). Persuasion without policies: The work of reviving Indigenous peoples' fire management in southern Australia. *Geoforum*, 120, 82–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2021.01.015

South Australian Labor Party. (2022). Labor 2022-Policy-Biodiversity.pdf.

- Steffensen, V. (2020). *Fire Country: How Indigenous fire management could help save Australia*. Hardie Grant Explore.
- Strahan, K., Whittaker, J., & Handmer, J. (2018). Self-evacuation archetypes in Australian bushfire. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 27,* 307–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2017.10.016
- Taylor, D. A. (2019). Prescribed burning to increase the richness of long-unburned and fragmented mallee communities [PhD]. Australian National University.
- Taylor, R. S., Watson, S. J., Nimmo, D. G., Kelly, L. T., Bennett, A. F., & Clarke, M. F. (2012). Landscapescale effects of fire on bird assemblages: Does pyrodiversity beget biodiversity?: Landscapescale influence of pyrodiversity on birds. *Diversity and Distributions*, 18(5), 519–529. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2011.00842.x
- The Royal Commission into National Natural Disaster Arrangements. (2020a). *Background Paper: Cultural burning practises in Australia* (pp. 1–19). Commonwealth of Australia.
- The Royal Commission into National Natural Disaster Arrangements. (2020b). *Background Paper: Land* management – hazard reduction: A literature review. Commonwealth of Australia.
- Thornhill, A. H., Crisp, M. D., Külheim, C., Lam, K. E., Nelson, L. A., Yeates, D. K., & Miller, J. T. (2019). A dated molecular perspective of eucalypt taxonomy, evolution and diversification. *Australian Systematic Botany*. https://doi.org/10.1071/SB18015
- Timalsina, R., & Songwathana, P. (2020). Factors enhancing resilience among older adults experiencing
 disaster: A systematic review. *Australasian Emergency Care*, 23(1), 11–22.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.auec.2019.12.007

Trewin, B., Morgan-Bulled, D., & Cooper, S. (2021). Australia State of the Environment—Climate.

- Trezise, D. J., Facelli, J. M., Paton, D. C., & Davies, R. J.-P. (2022). Prescribed Burns can Favour Establishment of Threatened Swamp Flora Depending on Grazing and Fire Seasonality. *Connecting Communities. Creating Resilience.* AFAC 2022.
- United Nations Framework on Climate Change. (n.d.). INTERLINKAGES BETWEEN BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY AND CLIMATE CHANGE AND ADVICE ON THE INTEGRATION OF BIODIVERSITY CONSIDERATIONS INTO THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS FRAMEWORK CONVENTION ON CLIMATE CHANGE AND ITS KYOTO PROTOCOL.
- van Eeden, L., & Dickman, C. R. (2023). Estimating the number of wild animals affected by Australia's 2019–20 wildfires. In *Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019-2020: Vol. Chapter 12*. CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- van Leeuwen, S., & Miller-Sabbioni, C. (Eds.). (2023). In *Impacts of wildfire on Indigenous cultural values*. CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- van Oldenborgh, G. J., Krikken, F., Lewis, S., Leach, N. J., Lehner, F., Saunders, K. R., van Weele, M., Haustein, K., Li, S., Wallom, D., Sparrow, S., Arrighi, J., Singh, R. K., van Aalst, M. K., Philip, S. Y., Vautard, R., & Otto, F. E. L. (2021). Attribution of the Australian bushfire risk to anthropogenic climate change. *Nat. Hazards Earth Syst. Sci.*, *21*(3), 941–960. https://doi.org/10.5194/nhess-21-941-2021
- Vié, J., Hilton-Taylor, C., & Stuart, S. (Eds.). (2009). Wildlife in a Changing World: An analysis of the 2008 IUCN Red List of Threatened Species.
- Walker, Z. C., & Morgan, J. W. (2022). Perennial pasture grass invasion changes fire behaviour and recruitment potential of a native forb in a temperate Australian grassland. *Biological Invasions*, 24(6), 1755–1765. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-022-02743-4
- Ward, M., Watson, J. E. M., Greenville, A., Maurer, G., Todd, S., Geary, W., & Tulloch, A. (2023).
 Consequences of the Australian 2019/20 wildfires for sites important for biodiversity and other world heritage values. In *Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019*-

2020 (pp. 33–48). CSIRO Publishing. https://meridian.allenpress.com/australianzoologist/article/42/2/182/485545/Consequences-of-the-Australian-2019-20-wildfires

- Wernberg, T., Bennett, S., Babcock, R. C., de Bettignies, T., Cure, K., Depczynski, M., Dufois, F., Fromont,
 J., Fulton, C. J., Hovey, R. K., Harvey, E. S., Holmes, T. H., Kendrick, G. A., Radford, B., Santana-Garcon, J., Saunders, B. J., Smale, D. A., Thomsen, M. S., Tuckett, C. A., ... Wilson, S. (2016).
 Climate-driven regime shift of a temperate marine ecosystem. *Science*, *353*(6295), 169–172.
 https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad8745
- Whiterod, N. S., Lintermans, M., Cramp, R. L., Franklin, C. E., Kennard, M., McCormack, R., Pearce, L.,
 Raadik, T. A., Ward, M., & Zukowski, S. (2023). The impact of the 2019–20 Australian wildfires
 on aquatic systems. In *Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019-2020: Vol. Chapter 6*. CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- Whittaker, J., Haynes, K., Handmer, J., McLennan, J., Whittaker, J., Haynes, K., Handmer, J., & McLennan, J. (2013). Community safety during the 2009 Australian 'Black Saturday' bushfires:
 An analysis of household preparedness and response. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 22(6), 841–849. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF12010
- Whittaker, J., Haynes, K., Wilkinson, C., Samson, S., Tofa, M., Dilworth, T., Collins, J., & Tait, L. (2021). Hazard Note #95: Lessons from black summer: How people experienced the 2019/20 NSW fire season. Bushfire and Natural Hazards CRC.
- Williams, A. P., Abatzoglou, J. T., Gershunov, A., Guzman-Morales, J., Bishop, D. A., Balch, J. K., & Lettenmaier, D. P. (2019). Observed Impacts of Anthropogenic Climate Change on Wildfire in California. *Earth's Future*, 7(8), 892–910. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019EF001210
- Williams, S. E., & de la Fuente, A. (2021). Long-term changes in populations of rainforest birds in the Australia Wet Tropics bioregion: A climate-driven biodiversity emergency. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(12), e0254307. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0254307

- Williamson, B., & Weir, J. (2021). Indigenous peoples and natural hazard research, policy and practice in southern temperate Australia: An agenda for change. *Australian Journal of Emergency Management*, 10.47389/36(No 4), 62–67. https://doi.org/10.47389/36.4.62
- Wilson,K.(2023).FlameWars.TheMonthly,February.https://www.themonthly.com.au/issue/2023/february/katherine-wilson/flame-wars#mtr
- Wintle, B. A., Legge, S., & Woinarski, J. C. Z. (2020). After the Megafires: What Next for Australian
 Wildlife? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 35(9), 753–757.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2020.06.009
- Woinarski, J., Burbidge, A. A., & Harrison, P. (Eds.). (2014). *The action plan for Australian mammals* 2012. CSIRO Publishing.
- Woinarski, J. C., & Rumpff, L. (2023). In *Government inquiries following the 2019-20 wildfires*. CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- Woinarski, J. C. Z., Burbidge, A. A., & Harrison, P. L. (2015). Ongoing unraveling of a continental fauna:
 Decline and extinction of Australian mammals since European settlement. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 112*(15), 4531–4540.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1417301112
- Woinarski, J., Cripps, J., Durkin, L., Law, B., Legge, S., Macak, P., Nelson, J., & Rumpff, L. (2023). Impacts of the 2019–20 wildfires on native mammals. In *Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019-2020: Vol. Chapter 16.* CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- Woinarski, J., Legge, S., & Rumpff, L. (2023). Recommendations. In *Australia's Megafires: Biodiversity Impacts and Lessons from 2019-2020: Vol. Chapter 35.* CSIRO Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1071/9781486316656
- Wolkow, A., Aisbett, B., Reynolds, J., Ferguson, S. A., & Main, L. C. (2016). The impact of sleep restriction while performing simulated physical firefighting work on cortisol and heart rate responses.

International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health, 89(3), 461–475. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-015-1085-3

Yibarbuk, D., Whitehead, P. J., Russell-Smith, J., Jackson, D., Godjuwa, C., Fisher, A., Cooke, P., Choquenot, D., & Bowman, D. M. J. S. (2002). Fire ecology and Aboriginal land management in central Arnhem Land, northern Australia: A tradition of ecosystem management: Aboriginal fire management and conservation of biological diversity. *Journal of Biogeography*, *28*(3), 325–343. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2699.2001.00555.x